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CHAIRMAN’S
STATEMENT (contd)

CHAIRMAN’S
STATEMENT

The financial year 2014 was marked by important

The target of declaring almost 100% of net profit after

changes in our shareholders’ base. Lottotech Ltd was

tax was met.

successfully listed on the Official List of the Stock

Dear Shareholders and Valued
Partners,
As the Chairman of Lottotech,
I am pleased to present the Annual
Report of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2014. In its 6th
year of operation, the Company
continues to deliver on the core
vision, which birthed “The National
Lottery” to benefit and uplift the
Mauritian society through the sale
of “La Loterie Nationale” products.
The Board has remained focused
on its purpose to succeed in this
mission through the core values of
integrity, trustworthiness, customer
care, innovation and responsible
gaming.

Exchange of Mauritius Ltd (“SEM”) in June 2014. The

At the time of writing this Statement, we are all aware

successful listing process created over 8,000 new

that we are evolving in a different environment following

Central Depository & Settlement Co Ltd (“CDS”)

the measures announced in the Budget Speech 2015,

As a Board we have continued to focus strongly on our

accounts on the SEM, with a total of 12,396 new

and which has already impacted Lottotech’s operations

fiduciary duties and corporate governance. We take very

investors and a subscription ratio of 2.99 times. Our new

and our share price.

seriously the mandate given to us by our shareholders

shareholders comprise of individual and institutional

and the faith that they have placed in us to produce

investors including foreign investors who believe in our

However despite the change in legislation, which we

progress against strategy. In the course of this year,

vision and strategy to bring upliftment to those in need

had highlighted as one of the Strategic and Regulatory

three new, experienced and independent directors

in our Country.

risk in the Listing Particulars, the Company remains
committed to tackle the challenge of putting in place

have been appointed to the Board, namely Messrs
Anwar Moollan, Ian Shepherd and Robert Ip. These

The Company’s turnover for the year ended 31

appropriate mitigating measures to turnaround the

new directors have joined the Board and contribute

December 2014 amounted to more than Rs2,7 billion.

Company, and for this, the Company requires the

to collectively bring the relevant legal, financial and

I am pleased to report that Lottotech made a profit

support of each and every one of its stakeholders.

marketing expertise to Lottotech so as to ensure its

after tax of Rs 167m for this reporting period. Further

continued prosperity and success.

for the same period, Lottotech contributed more than

I would like to thank my fellow Directors and members

Rs620 million to the Consolidated Fund for various

of the various Board Committees for their support and

The Lottotech Charter has been approved by Board

upliftment and development projects. Since our

contribution during the year. I would also congratulate

last year, and it charges the Board, with specific

launch and up to and including the 31st December

the Lottotech team for their continued hard work,

mandate to the Chairman, to oversee any and all

2014, Lottotech has contributed over Rs3 billion in vital

commitment and passion for creating value for all of

Corporate Governance matters within Lottotech. As

lottery funding to the Consolidated Fund. These funds,

its stakeholders and shareholders. I would like to

the Chairman of the Board, I have seriously undertaken

in line with our core purpose, will be used to improve

thank you, our valued shareholders and partners, for

the responsibility of ensuring that the Lottotech’s

the lives of our most vulnerable citizens in Mauritius

believing in us and entrusting us with this important

governance framework, as established and stipulated in

and Rodrigues.

national mission.

the Charter permeates all levels of the Company. The
Charter is based on our values, our ethics and our firm

The Board of Directors has declared a final dividend of

desire to be a good corporate citizen. The Company is

Rs0.16 per share, bringing the total dividend paid for the

fully committed to true and fair financial disclosure for its

year to Rs0.49 per share. The total dividend payment for

highly

shareholders and all stakeholders at large. Furthermore,

the year amounted to Rs152 million, representing some

regulated through the Gambling Regulatory Authority,

the Company abides by the legal requirements of

91.2% of the Company’s profit after taxation, excluding

our own Lottotech Charter including the Code of Ethics,

the Companies Act 2001 and the Financial Reporting

the exceptional items. This aligns with the Company’s

and through our certification with the World Lottery

Act 2004 and seeks to fulfill the requirements of the

commitment of declaring a minimum of 75% of the

Association.

National Code for Corporate Governance for Mauritius.

Company’s annual net profit after tax as a dividend.

Lottotech‘s

operations
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S STATEMENT (contd)

CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S
STATEMENT
Dear Valued Partners,

As the operator of the National Lottery, Lottotech has

This year we celebrated the fifth
anniversary of the National Lottery.
It was an occasion to pause and
reflect upon the life changing
impact the National Lottery has
made to the country in a short
period of time. Since the launch
in 2009, the National Lottery has
truly become part of everyday
life in Mauritius. According to our
research, Lottotech maintained
its position as the flagship brand
and the most popular lottery in
Mauritius with almost 100% brand
awareness and over 70% of adults
participating. People love to win
and 2014 proved to be a winning
year with over 6 million winning
tickets between Lotto and Quick
Win games. Our players should
be very proud of the fact that while
they were having fun winning,
they were also raising money for
causes of national importance. This
last year over Rs620 million was
transferred to the consolidated
fund to be distributed wisely to
initiatives that contribute towards
upliftment and development of
Mauritius. The National Solidarity
Fund received Rs55 million in 2014
to be used to assist those less
fortunate and in need.

to good causes. This year is truly a jackpot year as we
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delivered over Rs3 billion since the launch of the lottery
recorded our highest sales of over Rs2.7 billion due to
the extraordinary Lotto jackpot roll sequences resulting
in record jackpots of Rs120 million, Rs90 million and
Rs80 million. This means that Lottotech raised over
Rs620 million this year, over Rs11 million a week to be
invested back into Mauritius through the Consolidated
Fund ultimately to make the country a better place to
live. The Company finished the year 2014 with a 6.3%
increase in turnover and a 62.8% increase in profit
compared to 2013.
Loterie Nationale is ranked 108th in the world in terms
of per capita spend, clear evidence of our responsible
gaming strategy encouraging lots of people to play
but only in small amounts. The average weekly spend
on lotto is Rs73 whilst the Quick Win spend is Rs55 per
week. While winning the Lotto can be a life changing
event, the Quick Win category of games continued
to offer a break in the day with a variety of play styles,
price points and prize payouts. Our instant players
are diverse, so to stay relevant and entertaining we
continued to be innovative and creative in designing
games that they would value and enjoy.

Our players

typically play two different games out of the choice of
fifteen thus having fun whilst enriching the community
and country in their contribution.

We continue to value and contribute towards the
growth of our retail partners, many of whom are small
to medium sized family owned enterprises. Our retail
network of over 900 outlets earned over Rs150 million in
commissions in 2014 which translates to income of over
Rs160,000 per retailer, per week. To support our retail
partners and provide better service to our players with
the roll out of new merchandising displays, play stations
and digital signage.
We remain committed to being socially responsible as
ethical corporate citizens. This year Lottotech achieved
the World Lottery Association Responsible Gaming
level two certification, thus underlining our approach of
offering safe, regulated fun through its lottery games.
This year Lottotech funded three projects.
The Foundation pour le Formation au Football which
uses football as a spring board to specifically reach the
youth and children of impoverished families from the
disadvantaged regions. The Trust Fund for Excellence in
Sports which supports the athletes, especially through
its Sports/Etudes program and which supervises, at all
levels, certain athletes to help them reach Excellence
or World Class in their sports discipline. Funding was
also provided to the Junior Chamber of Commerce for
the Men against Violence campaign which educates
and sensitises children between the ages of 12 and 22
against domestic violence. All three of these projects
are investments in the future of our children and
our country.
In keeping with our strategy to align with global best
practice, this year our website was revamped and we
joined social media on Facebook and LinkedIn as
important platforms to ensure that we are listening to our
players and public, staying interactive and responsive.
Through our exclusive technology partnership with
GTECH, Lottotech has built an extensive integrated
state of the art IT infrastructure to support its gaming
operations, including a nationwide network of retailer
terminals with proper back-up systems. In addition,
I am very proud to announce that Lottotech has secured

the ISO 27001 certification in 2014, which is currently
the world’s highest standard for information security
management systems. Lottotech adopts internationally
recognised best practices to enhance the security of
our services to our customers and retail partners. Our
efficient security and audit system continues to ensure
that our retailers are compliant to the GRA Act and our
internal procedures.
There is one last event in 2014 that will have an impact
on Lottotech. The December 2014 national elections
brought in a new dispensation through a democratic
process. The new government, through the 2015
budget speech, announced a ban on the advertising
of the lottery and a ban on the Quick Win category
of games.
Although saddened by this decision,
Lottotech maintains its commitment to its mandate of
operating the National Lottery in the most effective
manner possible to continue generating much-needed
funds for government to invest in social programs,
while providing our retailers with material earnings and
of course giving our players a little entertainment for a
modest sum.
We have redefined and redesigned the organizational
and cost structure of the company to reflect the new
operational realities. The Company remains committed
to its responsible gaming strategy and this year will seek
Level 3 of the WLA Responsible Gaming certification
program which will require Lottotech to demonstrate its
plan and financial commitment to Responsible Gaming
initiatives in Mauritius.
I feel privileged to be leading a team of committed,
hardworking, passionate colleagues who put our
players, retailers and good causes we support at the
heart of everything we do. I thank each and every
one of them as well as the Board and Chairman for
their continued guidance and support in ensuring that
Lottotech continues to be an organization that improves
and uplifts the lives of the people of Mauritius. Most
importantly I would like to thank our players for their
continued enthusiasm and support.
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RESPONSIBLE GAMING

RESPONSIBLE GAMING (contd)

Since 2009, Lottotech has been offering safe, regulated and entertaining games of chance.
The authority to operate these games comes with our commitment to offer them with
integrity and responsibility. No one benefits when players experience problems with their
gambling; that is why everyone has an interest in preventing it. Our focus is on education
and awareness with prevention being the ultimate goal. Lottotech cares about players and
the wider community. We are committed to responsible gambling and we will achieve this by
continuing to offer players the information they need to make informed choices about their
play; through ongoing community partnerships; continuing to integrate responsible gambling
into our corporate culture; and continued support for research into, and public awareness of
responsible gambling.
Our accreditation at level two of the WLA would not be

Information includes prize structures, odds and how

possible if we did not take responsible gaming seriously

the game works. Lottotech ensures that all the relevant

and we remain committed in the next year to ensure that

information is available at retail sites and on the web site

this remains one of our central focus points in the coming

of Loterie Nationale.

year by embarking on or continuing with the following

Our commitment to Employees

Our commitment to communicate responsibly

Our employees play an important leadership role in the

Lottotech is committed to advertising and promoting

delivery of gaming entertainment that complements

our products responsibly by ensuring that our messages

the organization’s commitment to responsible gaming.

are factual and do not oversell the winning experience.

Lottotech provides employees with the necessary tools

Furthermore, we ensure that our advertising does not

and training to create greater awareness of responsible

include message that are intended for or attractive

gambling and how it applies to them. Increased

to minors.

employee knowledge empowers employees to support
responsible gambling measures at work and speak

One section of the GRA Act prevents the promotion of

comfortably about responsible gambling with family

Lottery products to minors. Thus, all the communications

and friends.

and advertising consistently states that our products are
prohibited to minors. A specific logo has been created

Our commitment to prevent underage play

and used in all our print adverts and the agency has
the proper guidelines as to how to include this logo

Lottotech will continue to support youth gambling

in all communications. The Lottotech team remains

initiatives:

Our commitment to Retailers

awareness and prevention initiatives across the country

committed to responsible gaming not simply as a matter

and increase our efforts in the area of prevention of

of obligation and compliance but because we recognise

Our commitment to Players

Lottotech provides retailers with the necessary tools

underage play. We will continue to work with our retailers

the need to uplift society through the income generated

to strengthen existing programs to verify the age of

whilst protecting vulnerable players. Our core value of

our players.

integrity informs our every strategy and every action. We

and training to better prepare them to recognize the
Lottotech believes an informed player is a responsible

warning signs of problem gambling with their customers

player. While the games offered by the National Lottery

and to provide those customers with information on

are considered to harmless by experts in the problem

responsible gaming. Retailers sign a retailer agreement

gambling discipline, it is also believed that players need

prior to selling Loterie Nationale products, which is in

to receive meaningful information to help them make

line with the GRA Act 2007 prohibiting the sale of tickets

informed decisions when playing Lottery products.

to persons under the age 18.
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are a proudly Mauritian company for Mauritians to help
Mauritians. Our business will always be underpinned by
responsible gaming methodologies.
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COMPANY
INFORMATION

DIRECTORS:

SECRETARY:

Chian Yew Ah Teck
Cyril How Kin Sang
Chian Tat Ah Teck
Chian Luck Ah Teck
Iqbal Mallam-Hasham (Appointed on 9 April 2009 and resigned on 18 December 2014)
Ishwurlal Golam (Appointed on 9 April 2009 and resigned on 30 December 2014)
Alex Burstein
Kune Foo Jean Claude Lam Hung
Anwar Moollan (appointed on 19 May 2014)
Robert Ip Min Wan (appointed on 19 May 2014)
Ian Shepherd (appointed on 19 May 2014)
Michelle Carinci (appointed on 7 August 2014)
Gamma Corporate Services Ltd
Royal Road
Chapman Hill
Beau Bassin
Republic of Mauritius

REGISTERED OFFICE:

Royal Road
Chapman Hill
Beau Bassin
Republic of Mauritius

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS:
AUDITOR:

Ground Floor, HSBC Centre
18, CyberCity, Ebène, Republic of Mauritius

PricewaterhouseCoopers
18, CyberCity, Ebène, 72201, Republic of Mauritius

PRINCIPAL BANKER:

State Bank of Mauritius Ltd, SBM Tower
1, Queen Elizabeth II Avenue, Port Louis, Republic of Mauritius

LEGAL ADVISOR:

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors are pleased to present their annual report

Act 2007. The Company operates in a highly regulated

and the audited financial statements of Lottotech Ltd

environment. Currently, the two lottery categories

(“Company” or “Lottotech”) for the year ended

offered by the company are the weekly Loto game and

31 December 2014.

Quick Win games (also referred to as scratch cards).

Principal Activity

On 3 March 2014, the company was converted into a
public company and on 11 June 2014 it was listed on the

The company operates the Mauritius National Lottery on

Official Market of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd.

behalf of the Government of Mauritius.

The successful listing process created over 8,000 new
Central Depository & Settlement Co Ltd (CDS) accounts

Following a Request for Proposal issued by the State

on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd, with a total

Investment Corporation Ltd in March 2008, the proposal

of 12,385 applications and a subscription ratio of 2.99

of the company, including its structured game plan, was

times. The new shareholders comprised of individual and

accepted and the Company was selected in July 2008

institutional investors which included foreign investors.

as the preferred bidder for the implementation and
operation of the Mauritius National Lottery. In April

The company is a member of the World Lottery

2009, the Gambling Regulatory Authority (GRA) issued

Association (WLA). The WLA is recognized as the global

an exclusive license to Lottotech Ltd to operate the

authority on the lottery business and upholds the highest

Mauritius National Lottery.

ethical principles. There are terms and conditions that
the company must fulfil to be a member of the WLA,

However, subsequently the GRA did not approve all
the games as per the structured game plan. This has
resulted in the company instigating legal action in May

•

The member organization must be licensed or

2012 against the GRA and the Ministry of Finance and

authorized to conduct lotteries and/or sports betting

Economic Development.

operations by a jurisdiction domiciled in a state
recognized by the United Nations.

The litigation was resolved before the Mediation

•

Sales of games of chance and/or skill must account

Division of the Supreme Court in October 2012, whereby

for the majority of the organization’s total annual

Lottotech was awarded a one-off compensation and a

gross revenues.

reduction in the contribution rate to the Consolidated

•

Fund from 58.01% to 46.16% as from 1 July 2012 for not
being able to launch new games in the initial years in

Sir Hamid Moollan QC
6th Floor, PCL Building, Sir William Newton Street, Port Louis, Republic of Mauritius

namely:

be dedicated to the public good.
•

accordance with the structured game plan submitted at
the time of its proposal.

The majority of the organization’s net revenues must
The organization’s business practices must conform
to the aims and objectives of the Association.

•

The organization must subscribe to the WLA Code
of Conduct as approved by the membership or to an

1 2 | Lottotech Annual Report 2014

The activity of the Mauritius National Lottery, also

equivalent Code of Conduct adopted by a regional

called La Loterie Nationale, is regulated by the GRA

lottery association.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (contd)

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (contd)

The company received the WLA Responsible Gaming

since the start of operations to 31 December 2014 and

certification. Further, the ISO 27001 certification was

over 3.5m winners in 2014. The category continues to

renewed demonstrating the commitment to world class

offer a variety of game mechanics, price, prizes and

on jackpots won during the year of MUR1.3m. One

teenagers while the TFE supports the overall efforts

information security management.

themes. While there are several games on the market

retailer for every 1300-1400 population penetration is in

of Mauritian elite athletes. Thus the theme “from the

at any given time, players typically play two games only

line with global best practice.

playground to the podium” was adopted.

Consolidated Fund & National Solidarity Fund

Future Outlook

The company contributed MUR622m to the Consolidated

In spite of the current restrictions imposed by the GRA

Results

Retailer Network (contd)

employees of the company to become involved. The
FFF touches the lives of thousands of adolescents and

demonstrating that different games appeal to different
players. Quick Win games continue to be second choice

The company changed its accounting year-end from

to Loto providing players with a fun moment during a

June to December in 2013.

break in the day.

Fund of the Government of Mauritius during the year. As

to withhold approval of new games, the company has

The company’s turnover for the year ended 31 December

The company engaged Ipsos Reid, an international firm

per the GRA Act, any money paid into the Consolidated

continued to grow. The fundamentals of the company’s

2014 amounted to MUR2,726m (18 months ended 31

with global experience in lottery to conduct market

Fund is used to finance the implementation of projects

business remain strong. The company could generate a

December 2013 – MUR3,876m).

studies this year which reported very high levels of

relating to community development, the promotion

substantially higher increase in sales once the restrictions

approval for the operations of the lottery. The research

of education, health, sports and culture and for

are lifted whilst continuing to apply the responsible

The company made a profit after tax of MUR167m (18

reported that 72% of adult males and 61% of adult

reimbursement of public debt of the Government

gaming principles adopted by the WLA. On the

months ended 31 December 2013 – MUR343m). Profit

females participate in the lottery. The average weekly

of Mauritius.

other hand the cost structure is not expected to grow

for the year ended 31 December 2014 before net listing

spend on Loto is MUR73 and the average weekly spend

expenses is MUR173m.

on Quick Win games is MUR55. Three out of five players

In addition, the National Solidarity Fund received over

spend less than MUR100 weekly confirming once again

MUR55m representing unclaimed prizes during the

that the lottery has high participation rates and low

period. The National Solidarity Fund is used to improve

Following the General Elections held in December 2014,

spend which is aligned with the company’s responsible

the lives of the most vulnerable Mauritian citizens.

there has been a change in government in Mauritius. The

Market and Performance Review
This was the fifth year of operations for Lottotech Ltd.

in line with sales as the company continues its cost
optimisation efforts.

new government has announced that it is undertaking

gaming strategy.

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)

a general review of the gaming industry, including the

Loto maintained its position as the flagship brand and

After five years of operations, Mauritius ranks 108th

the most popular lottery in Mauritius creating 127 jackpot

globally in per capita sales.

This reflects Lottotech’s

For the period ended 31 December 2013, the CSR

may affect the company, there has been no official

winners since the start of operations to 31 December

responsible gaming strategy and reinforces the fact that

budget as per the legal requirements totalled MUR4.5m.

announcement in respect of the changes, if any, which

2014. This year was a record year for Loto as a result of

a lot of adult players spending a small amount.

In 2014, the amount was dedicated to the Fondation

government proposes to bring to the industry.

three sequences of large jackpots. Three winners shared
the highest jackpot of MUR120m while the highest single

sector in which the company operates. Whilst this

pour la Formation au Football (FFF) (MUR2.5m), Trust

Retailer Network

jackpot winner won MUR84m in November 2014. The
total number of winning tickets created from Loto was

The retailer network of the company consisting of over

more than 2.6m totalling over MUR1,000m in prizes.

900 retailers, most of whom are small family owned

Fund for Excellence (TFE) in sports (MUR1.5m) and Junior

Authorised for issue by the Board of directors on 04

Chamber of Commerce for the Men Against Violence

March 2015 and signed on its behalf by:

communication campaign (MUR0.5m).

businesses, earned over MUR150m in commissions. On

Different CSR projects were evaluated on the criteria

The performance of the Quick Win category was below

average, our retailers earn an annual commission of more

of making a significant difference, alignment with the

expectations for the same period. Nevertheless, the

than MUR160,000 while the top 56% earn on average over

company’s branding of “La Chance Pour Tous”, offer

Quick Win games category created 44 millionaires

MUR200,000 annually. 20 retailers received commissions

a long term impact and provide opportunities for

1 4 | Lottotech Annual Report 2014

Michelle Carinci

Robert Ip Min Wan

DIRECTORS
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
Section 75(3) of the Financial Reporting Act

NAME OF PIE: Lottotech Ltd

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE REPORT

(Including Statutory Disclosures Pursuant to Section 221 of the Companies Act 2001)
1. Introductory Note

19. Directors’ Service Contracts

2. Role of the Board of Directors

20. Dividend Policy

3. Shareholding

21. Shareholders’ Agreement

with the hereunder sections of the Code, and reason for the non-compliance is given below:

4. Constitution

22. Share Option Scheme

•

Section 2.8- Remuneration of Directors - Due to the confidentiality of the information, no detailed breakdown of

5. Board Structure

23. Share Price Graph

remuneration by director is given in the Corporate Governance Report.

6. The Board of Directors

24. Management Agreements

7. Role and Function of the Chairman

25. Auditors’ Remuneration

8. The Directors’ Profile

26. Related Party Transactions

9. Board Attendance

27. Contract of Significance

10. Role of the Company Secretary

28. Risk Management, Internal Controls and

REPORTING PERIOD:
Financial Year ended 31st December 2014
We, the Directors of Lottotech Ltd, confirm that to the best of our knowledge that Lottotech Ltd has not complied

•

Section 2.10- Board’s and Directors’ Appraisal- The Company did not carry out a formal Board and Directors’
appraisal given that in the course of the year. Mid- year 2014 the Company has been converted to a public listed
company and a new Board of Directors has been set up with new Board members, and at this stage it is premature
to carry out a Board’s and Directors’ Appraisal. It is reasonable that this exercise be carried out after that the Board
and its Directors have performed for a minimum of 12 months.

11. Common Directors
SIGNED BY: The Chairman and One Director

12. Senior Management Team
13. Board Committees
14. Code of Conduct
15. Safety, Health and Environment
16. Directors’ Remuneration and Benefits

Chairman
Chian Yew Ah Teck

Director
Michelle Carinci

17. Directors’ Share Interests
18. Directors’ Dealings in Shares of the Company

Internal Audit
29. Interest Register
30. Statement of Remuneration Philosophy
31. Corporate Social Responsibility
32. Donations
33. Environment Policy
34. Calendar of Events
35. Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

Date: 04 March 2015
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CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE REPORT (contd)

1. Introductory Note

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE REPORT (contd)

It is clearly established that the objective of the

The Board has all the powers necessary for directing

The Board is the decision making body for all matters

governance framework is to:

and supervising the management of the business and

which are of significance to the Company as a whole

affairs of the Company, and for creating and delivering

because of their strategic, financial and reputational

Valued Rights - Preserve the valued rights of the

sustainable value. The Board determines the strategic

implications and/or consequences.

lotteries and generally to do all related activities. It

Shareholders of Lottotech Ltd and ensure that

direction within a framework of rewards, incentives

became the operator of the Mauritius National Lottery

Lottotech Ltd has sound governance practices

and controls.

The Board provides effective corporate governance.

on behalf of the Government of Mauritius in April 2009,

throughout the organization;
Management - Assist executive officers and others to

The Board must ensure that management strikes

3. Shareholding and Shareholders Holding More than 5%

effectively perform their duties and manage risks;

an appropriate balance between delivering short

Effective Oversight - Enable the Board of Lottotech

and

public company and on 11 June 2014 it was listed on the

Ltd, acting on behalf of the Company,

long-term growth.

Official Market of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd.

effective oversight of the management of Lottotech

Lottotech Ltd (“Lottotech” or “Company”) was originally
incorporated on 8 April 2008 for the purpose of operating

pursuant to the Gambling Regulatory Authority Act 2008.
On 3 March 2014 the Company was converted into a

•

•
•

Lottotech is a member of the World Lottery Association
(“WLA”), the global authority on lottery business.
The Company is governed by a new Constitution which

•

to have

medium

term

objectives

and

promoting

By way of a special written resolution dated 3 March
2014, the shareholders approved a share split in the
ratio of 1:3,400 so that each of the 100,000 fully paid

Ltd and to monitor performance and compliance;

The Board is also responsible for ensuring that

up ordinary shares of no par value each constituting

and

management maintains a system of internal control

the stated capital of the Company be subdivided

Protocols & Policies - Establish protocols and policies

and procedures which provides assurance on effective

into 340,000,000 ordinary shares, thereby increasing

to promote compliance with the National Code of

and efficient operations, internal financial controls and

the Company’s number of shares issued from 100,000

Corporate Governance.

compliance with existing laws and regulations.

ordinary shares of no par value each to 340,000,000
ordinary shares of no par value each. As at 31 December

has been adopted by the Shareholders on 13 March
2014, in compliance with the Companies Act 2001 and

The Company is fully committed to true and fair financial

In carrying out this responsibility, the Board should have

2014, the issued stated capital of the Company

the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius

disclosure for its shareholders and all stakeholders at

due regard to what is appropriate for the Company’s

amounted to MUR100,000,000 made up of 340,000,000

Ltd. In its Statement of Compliance as provided

large. Furthermore, the Company abides by the legal

businesses and the materiality of the risks inherent in

ordinary shares of no par value each.

under section 75(3) of the Financial Reporting Act,

requirements of the Companies Act 2001 and the

the businesses and the relative costs and benefits of

explanations are given as to why the Company could

Financial Reporting Act 2004.

implementing specific controls.

The shareholding structure of Lottotech is as follows:

not comply fully with all the provisions of the National
Code of Corporate Governance for Mauritius (“Code”).

In this report, the Directors hereby state the extent
to which Lottotech is complying with the Code and

As provided in the Lottotech Charter, which has been

identifies the areas not complied with and give the

duly approved and adopted during the year 2014, the

reasons for the non-compliance.

Chairman of the Company is in charge of Corporate
Governance matters of Lottotech Ltd. The Chairman has

2. Role of the Board of Directors

thus the responsibility of ensuring that the Lottotech’s
governance framework, as established and stipulated

The role of the Board of Lottotech is first and foremost

in the Lottotech Charter permeates all levels of the

to direct, govern and control the Company in order

Company.

to safeguard and enhance its total value and returns
by overseeing directly or indirectly the executive

Gamma - Civic Ltd

100%

Gamma
Leisure Ltd
14.063%

100%

Maurilot
Investments Ltd
14.074%

100%

Natlot
Investments Ltd
14.063%

99%

Glot Holdings
(Mauritius) Ltd

Public
Hands
24.987%

State Investment
Corporation Ltd
18.75%

14.063%

Lottotech Ltd

management of Lottotech Ltd.
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The shareholders holding more than 5% of the ordinary

•

Non-Executive Directors:

8

shares of the Company at 31 December 2014 were:

•

Executive Director:

1

•

Independent Non-Executive Directors: 3

% Shareholding
14.063

Maurilot Investments Ltd

14.074

In general, the Board shall be responsible for the

Natlot Investments Ltd

14.063

following key areas related to the operations and

Glot Holdings (Mauritius) Ltd

14.063

management of the businesses carried out by Lottotech

State Investment Corporation Ltd

18.750

Ltd:
•

Companies Act 2001 and has no material clauses
requiring disclosure.
•

5. Board Structure

•

•

to act as Directors on the Board. The Constitution
stipulates a maximum number of twelve Directors to
serve a term of office of three years, with a staggered

fairly in serving the best interests of Lottotech Ltd;

Board.

In a manner designed to create and continue to build

Having regard to the impact of Lottotech’s business
model, its products and services on the community
and the environment;

•

In accordance with the duties and obligations
imposed upon the Board by the Constitution of

•

economic context;

out in the Company’s Charter and its Annexures.

Policy making;

7. Role and Function of the Chairman

responsibilities within Lottotech Ltd. However, although
the Chairman does not have day-to-day executive
management powers, the Chairman shall have full
when he deems necessary in order to enforce Board’s

The Chairman is in charge of Corporate Governance
of the Board are promptly executed and implemented.

Accurate and transparent regular reporting on the

The Chairman of the Board shall be elected by the

the CEO of Lottotech Ltd and directs the Company

“state of play” of the Company, including the annual

members of the Board and he shall chair over the

Secretary who reports to him.

report as per statutory requirements;

proceedings of the Board of Directors of Lottotech Ltd
and its Shareholders’ meeting.

8. Directors’ Profiles

executive management of companies within the

The Chairman shall have a casting vote as provided for

All Directors of Lottotech Ltd have:

Lottotech Ltd;

in the Constitution.

•

Appointment, supervision and monitoring of the
Common law fiduciary obligations to Lottotech Ltd
and/ or to act in good faith and the best interest of
the Chairman of the Board shall involve:

During the first half of the year 2014, the Company

place policies and procedures consistent with the

•

all risks, including business risk, by having in
Company’s strategy and risk appetite; and

was composed of eight Directors, comprising of three

of twelve Directors made up as follows:

is, he does not hold any operational or functional

resolutions.

the ethical and other standards and principles, as set

Management is effectively managing and mitigating

structure changed and is now led by a Board comprising

not get involved in the executive management, that

With integrity and objectivity, and in compliance with

review thereof as is deemed fit, given the prevailing

retaining corporate memory.

Company became a public listed company, the Board’s

In the normal course of business, the Chairman does

powers to intervene in the activities of the Company

In addition to his role as a Director, the principal roles of

Executive and five Non-Executive Directors. When the

properly introduced to the businesses of the Company.

Lottotech Ltd; and

Through its risk oversight role, satisfy itself that

rotation system to ensure the Board’s renewal while

The Chairman shall ensure that new Directors are

He generally acts as a full time adviser and mentor to

The Shareholders of Lottotech Ltd by ordinary resolution
hold the ultimate responsibility of electing the persons

Chairman of the Board acts for and on behalf of the

matters of the Company and ensures that the resolutions

registered office of the Company.

shall determine the size of the Board of Directors and

•

Setting strategy and organization structure by means
planning exercise, including an IT strategy and the

In recognition of its overriding responsibility to act

short, medium and long term value for the Company;

of a five-year strategy development and financial

The Company’s Constitution is in line with the

A copy of the Company’s Constitution is available at the

•

6. The Board of Directors

Gamma Leisure Ltd

4. Constitution

•

(1) Corporate Governance ensuring that the Board
carries out its responsibilities efficiently and that it
has a clear comprehension of its role, function and

•

Setting the Lottotech values and standards.

deliverables as well as those of the Management
and Shareholders; and

the Company;
•

Obligations imposed by the Companies Act 2001;

•

Obligations imposed by Constitution of Lottotech
Ltd; and

•

Obligations imposed by the Charter together with its
annexures as approved by the Board of Directors.

In performing its role, the Board shall at all times act in
accordance with the Law and:

(2) Ensuring that resolutions of the Board are promptly
executed and implemented by Management. The
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Each Director has a duty to exercise a degree of care,

this time, Carl has also been a director and the Chairman

skill and diligence in fulfilling his function as a member

of companies in the Gamma Group.

of the Board.

Directorship in listed companies - Two (Gamma-Civic
Ltd & Morning Light Co Ltd)

Although Directors are entrusted by Shareholders with
the task of oversight and steering over the management
of Lottotech Ltd, the powers of the Directors may be

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE REPORT (contd)

d. Paul Cyril How Kin Sang (also called Cyril How
Kin Sang) - Non-Executive Director

f. Muhammad Iqbal Mallam-Hasham (also called
Iqbal Mallam-Hasham) - Non-Executive Director

Cyril studied accountancy at The University of West

Iqbal is a fellow of the Hubert H. Humphrey program

London and is a member of the Institute of Chartered

b. Chian Luck Ah Teck (also called Patrice Ah Teck) Non-Executive Director

limited by Lottotech Charter, by the Constitution and by

Accountants in England & Wales. From 1985 to 1988,
he trained and worked as a Chartered Accountant in the
UK with a number of accounting firms including KPMG.

and studied International Economy at Boston University.
He is a Fellow of the Mauritius Institute of Directors.
He holds a post-graduate degree in Management
and Business from “Institut d’Administration des
Enterprises”, Université de Strasbourg. He was the

ordinary resolutions of the Shareholders. The Directors

Patrice holds a BA (Hons) Accounting and Finance

He joined Gamma in 1989 and has occupied several

may become liable for the consequences of any breach of

from South Bank University. He worked as a Trainee

posts within the Group, including Group Finance

duties as contained under the law, the Lottotech Charter,

Accountant with Nunn, Crick and Bussell in the UK,

Director and is involved in the business development

the Constitution and resolutions of the Shareholders in

and in 1993 he joined the Gamma Group as Sales

of the Group. He was appointed as the Managing

case of actions entered against the Directors.

and Marketing Manager. He was appointed Sales

Director of Gamma-Civic Ltd in February 2011 and is

and Marketing Director in 2000 and since 2011 he has

the Supervisory Director of Lottotech and is involved in

occupied the post of Deputy Managing Director.

the business development of the Group.

graduate and postgraduate courses in Strategic

Directorship in listed companies - Two (Gamma-Civic

Directorship in listed companies - Two (Gamma-Civic

Management and Negotiation Techniques at the two

Ltd & Morning Light Co Ltd)

Ltd & Morning Light Co Ltd)

Universities in Mauritius as well as for ‘Université de

The profiles of the individual Directors are given below:

a. Chian Yew Ah Teck, (also called Carl Ah Teck) Non–Executive Director & Chairman

Managing Director of the State Investment Corporation Ltd.
He has wide ranging experience in the financial
services sector and has been a consultant in corporate
management, financial services, training and legal
matters. He was the Associate Professor, teaching

Poitiers/MCCI’ Program. He has formerly held important
positions including Member of Parliament, Member of

c. Chian Tat Ah Teck (also called Tommy Ah Teck) Non-Executive Director

e. Kune Foo Jean-Claude Lam Hung (also called
Jean-Claude Lam Hung) - Non-Executive Director

Mechanics from the University of Cambridge. After

Tommy holds a BSc (Hons) Engineering from University

Jean-Claude is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered

university, he joined consulting firm Sir Alexander Gibb

of Westminster and an MPhil in Mechanical Engineering

Accountants in England and Wales. He was awarded

and Partners in Mauritius. He is a registered professional

from Loughborough University of Technology. He

the Edward Billington Scholarship to read BA (Hons)

engineer. He has also attended several executive

worked as a Trainee Accountant with Griffin & Partners,

Business Studies at Liverpool John Moores University.

management programs at NUS/Stanford University,

Chartered Accountants in London, UK. He occupied

He graduated with a first class honours degree. From

London Business School and INSEAD.

the post of Managing Director of Gamma-Civic Ltd

1998 to 2009, he trained and qualified as a Chartered

from 1987 to January 2011. He was appointed as CEO

Accountant with Ernst & Young (London) before

After 5 years with Sir Alexander Gibb and Partners, where

of Gamma-Civic Ltd as from February 2011.

assuming senior manager and director roles at Deloitte

the London Chamber of Commerce & Industry. He has

he held various positions in both the design office and on

Directorship in listed companies - Two (Gamma-Civic

(London) and BDO (London) respectively. In November

served at the Ministry of Finance in important positions

site for major projects, he founded Gamma Construction

Ltd & Morning Light Co Ltd).

2009, he became a partner at Mazars LLP (London) prior

before his appointment as Director, Concession Projects

Co Ltd in 1987 which has subsequently acquired

to joining Gamma as CFO in August 2012.

Division. He held the position of Group Administrator

Randabel & Sons Ltd (now known Gamma-Civic Ltd).

Directorship in listed companies - Two (Gamma-Civic

Carl holds a first class degree in Civil Engineering
from Lancaster University and an MPhil. Degree in Soil

Ltd & Morning Light Co Ltd)
From 1987 to 2011, he was the Chief Executive of

Public Accounts Committee and Member of the Joint
ACP-EU Bureau.
Directorship in listed companies - Three (Caudan
Development Limited, Sun Resorts Limited & Constance
Hotels Services Ltd)

g. Ishwurlal Golam - Non-Executive Director
Ishwurlal is a member of the Chartered Institute of
Management Accountants and was a Gold medalist of

and Finance Manager at SIC.
Directorship in listed companies- One (Morning Light
Co Ltd)

the Gamma Group before becoming the Executive
Chairman of Gamma-Civic Ltd in February 2011. During
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h. Alex Steven Burstein (also called Alex Burstein) Non-Executive Director

one of the founding members of the Responsibility
Program on behalf of the WLA. Michelle also aided in
the creation of responsible gambling principles and

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE REPORT (contd)

k. Ian Ronald Bruce Shepherd (also called Ian
Shepherd) - Independent Non-Executive Director
(contd)

Alex holds a BSc Electrical Engineering from Carnegie-

its associated frameworks and standards which were

Mellon University in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. He

unanimously approved by 140 organisations worldwide.

Chief Executive at Connectivity and CIDA Learning,

worked at GTECH, the world leader in gaming

Directorship in listed companies – None

CIDA Investment Trust and Grey Advertising (South

technology including application software, firmware,
communications processing, and central systems

j. Anwar Abdool Hamid Moollan (also called

software, where he held top management posts. In

Anwar Moollan) - Independent Non-Executive
Director

1998, he left GTECH and started his own company
whereby he acted as a consultant and an advisor to a
number of lottery companies around the world.

Anwar pursued studies in law at Downing College,

Directorship in listed companies- None

Cambridge and the University of Paris, Panthéon –
Sorbonne after studying Mechanical Engineering in

i. Michelle Jane Carinci (also called Michelle Carinci) Executive Director & Chief Executive Officer

France. He was ranked first at the Mauritian Bar Council
examinations in 1995 and was awarded the Sir Raymond
Hein QC Award. He joined the Chambers of Sir Hamid

Africa), Regional Director at Grey Africa Network,
Managing Director at Shepherd Advertising, BBDO
(South Africa), BBDO Research (South Africa) and
Market Research Africa (Zimbabwe), and Sales and
Marketing Director at Schweppes Central Africa.
Directorship in listed companies – None

l. Robert Chowvee Ip Min Wan (also called Robert
Ip Min Wan) - Independent Non-Executive Director
Robert is the Managing Director of Ip Min Wan Ltd and
a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in

Michelle, a Canadian national, has proven leadership

Moollan QC in 1995 and practises as a barrister. Anwar

in operations and innovation both locally and

chairs the Audit Committee of Harel Mallac & Co. Ltd

in Business Studies from the University of Edinburgh.

internationally, with over 35 years’ experience in the

and is a director on Compagnie Immobilière Ltée.

He was a senior manager in Deloitte in London where

gaming industry. Prior to joining Lottotech, Michelle

Directorship in listed companies – Two (Harel Mallac &

he has accumulated more than 8 years of financial

held the position of CEO at Atlantic Lottery Corporation,

Co. Ltd & Compagnie Immobilière Ltée)

services audit and assurance experience.

which under her leadership was recognised three times
as one of Canada’s Top 100 Employers. As President
and CEO of the Atlantic Lottery Corporation, she

k. Ian Ronald Bruce Shepherd (also called Ian
Shepherd) - Independent Non-Executive Director

developed and implemented a corporate social
responsibility framework which strives to promote

Ian is a graduate of the Royal Military Academy Sandhurst

integrity, transparency and responsibility. Prior to

(UK) and has a Master of Business Administration and

joining Atlantic Lottery Corporation, she was President

a certificate in coaching from Henley Business School.

of Gamescape, a wholly-owned subsidiary of GTECH

Ian is retired and sits on the boards of several private

and a Corporate Vice President in charge of marketing

media companies, incorporated in South Africa, namely

and customer relations at GTECH.

Striata.com, Fleishman Hillard SA, Trialogue Pty Ltd,
The Performance Hub Pty Ltd and Community and

She has also been recognised four times as one of the

a strong promoter of responsible gaming having been

In June 2008, he joined the Boards of Mauritian Eagle
Insurance Company Ltd (“MEI”), a listed company, and
he chairs its Audit and Risk Committee. He was also
appointed as an Independent Director of Mauritian Eagle
Leasing Company Ltd (“MEL”), and he retired from the
company in September 2014 following rotation of the
Directors. He also chaired its Audit and Risk Committee.
He is also an independent director of COVIFRA and
Holiday Village Management Services Ltd.
Directorship in listed companies –Two (Mauritian Eagle
Insurance Company Ltd and COVIFRA)

Individual Development Trust.

9. Board Attendance

top 50 CEOs in Atlantic Canada and is an inductee into
the Lottery Hall of Fame class of 2006. Michelle is also

England and Wales. He holds a B.Com. (Hons) degree

Ian has held a number of senior management roles
namely Chairman at Grey Advertising (South Africa),

During the period under review, the Board of Directors

1 January 2014 - 8 May 2014
Directors

Attendance

Carl Ah Teck

4 of 4

Alex Bursein

3 of 4

Patrice Ah Teck

4 of 4

Tommy Ah Teck

4 of 4

Ishwurlal Golam

4 of 4

Jean-Claude Lam Hung

4 of 4

Iqbal Mallam-Hasham

1 of 4

Cyril How Kin Sang

4 of 4

24 May 2014 – 31 December 2014
Directors
Carl Ah Teck

Attendance
4 of 4

Alex Bursein

4 of 4

Anwar Moollan

1 of 4

Patrice Ah Teck

4 of 4

Tommy Ah Teck

4 of 4

Ian Shepherd2

4 of 4

Jean-Claude Lam Hung

4 of 4

Michelle Carinci3

2 of 4

Cyril How Kin Sang

4 of 4

Robert Ip Min Wan4

4 of 4

Ishwurlal Golam

4 of 4

1

5

Iqbal Mallam-Hasham

0 of 4

1. Anwar Moollan was appointed on 19.05.2014
2. Ian Shepherd was appointed on 19.05.2014
3. Michelle Carinci was appointed on 07.08.2014
4. Robert Ip Min Wan was appointed on 19.05.2014
5. Iqbal Mallam-Hasham resigned on 18.12.2014
6. Ishwurlal Golam resigned on 30.12.2014

10. Role of the Company Secretary
The Company Secretary is accountable to the Board
through the Chairman for the duties and responsibilities
as defined in the Companies Act 2001, as well as for the
Company’s corporate governance processes.

met 8 times and the attendance of the Directors at these
meetings was as follows:
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10. Role of the Company Secretary (contd)
For the period under review Gamma Corporate Services

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE REPORT (contd)

The Board determines the duties and responsibilities,

He joined Lottotech in 2009 and has occupied the post

is responsible for the planning and execution of IT

and powers of the CEO, and she is delegated specific

of Deputy General Manager and presently holds the

initiatives that support the Company’s objectives. He

duties and responsibilities by the Board.

post of Chief Operating Officer.

also oversees and ensures the smooth and efficient
running of the on-line lottery sales and IT services.

Ltd is the Company Secretary for the Company. Gamma
Corporate Services Ltd is fully qualified as per the

Any

duties

and

responsibilities

not

specifically

requirements of the Companies Act 2001. In addition to

delegated by the Board to the CEO or through him to

its duties and responsibilities as provided under the law,

any executives of the Company remain the responsibility

the Company Secretary assists the Chairman in ensuring

of the Board.

that sound governance practices permeate throughout

Jean Marc Landry - Chief Sales and Marketing
Officer

Jerry Lim How - Chief Procurement Officer

Jean Marc, a Canadian national, has a Bachelor degree

Jerry studied BSc Computer Science with Business

in Business Administration (Finance) from the Université

Studies at the University of Buckingham in the UK and

the Company. Further the Company Secretary acts

The CEO is assisted by a Chief Operating Officer

de Moncton, New Brunswick. Prior to joining Lottotech,

has an MSc Business Systems Analysis and Design

as the Compliance Officer for corporate governance

(“COO”), who acts as a deputy to the CEO.

he worked at Atlantic Lottery Corporation for 8 years

from City University in London. He worked as LPG

principles, regulatory and statutory requirements.

Hereunder is the profile of the Senior Management

where he most recently held the position of Director of

Retail Supervisor and Planner from 1989 to 1997 and as

Team, which is composed of the CEO, the COO,

Marketing (Retail). At Atlantic Lottery Corporation, he

Contracting and Procurement Manager from 1997 to

the Chief Sales and Marketing Officer, the Financial

successfully led the implementation of the Quick Win

2002 at Shell Mauritius Ltd. He joined Gamma in 2002

Controller, the Chief Technology Officer, the Chief

rejuvenation plan to address declining sales. This plan

and acted as Group Procurement Manager from 2002 to

The names of the common Directors within the holding

Procurement Officer, the Security Manager and the

resulted in three consecutive years of record sales, as

2011. He transferred to Lottotech as Chief Procurement

structure at 31 December 2014 are as follows:

Compliance and Risk Manager.

well as all-time sales record for the regional and national

Officer in 2011.

11. Common Directors

lottery games.

Glot Holdings (Mauritius) Ltd

Jean-Claude Lam Hung

Natlot Investments Ltd

Cyril How Kin Sang

Maurilot Investments Ltd

Tommy Ah Teck

Gamma Leisure Ltd

Patrice Ah Teck

Lottotech Ltd

Carl Ah Teck

Gamma-Civic Ltd

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

*

12. Senior Management Team
The company is led by a Chief Executive Officer
(“CEO”), appointed by the Board of Lottotech Ltd as
the Key Employee of the Company, upon motion of the
Chairman and on the cast of a simple majority vote.
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Profile of the Team Members:

Richard Papie - Security Manager
Ansuya Seewooruthun - Financial Controller

Michelle Carinci - Chief Executive Officer

Richard joined Lottotech in 2009 and has over 24 years

Please refer to Michelle’s profile under the ‘Directors’

Ansuya has a Bachelor of Commerce in Accounting

of experience within the security profession. He worked

Profiles’ section of this report.

and Finance from the University of Mauritius. She also

as a police officer for 7 years, and held the position of

completed the ACCA qualification and is currently

security manager across a number of industries. Richard

doing a Master in Business Administration with the

joined Lottotech in 2009 and he oversees, investigates

University of Bradford, UK. She has more than 10 years

and liaises with the relevant legal and enforcement

of experience in accounting and finance in both local

authorities to authenticate any winning tickets that may

Moorghen holds a BSc European Studies & Technology

and international organisations. She joined Lottotech in

be in dispute.

and a Master degree in Marketing from Coventry

December 2010 and is presently the Financial Controller

University in the UK. He is also a holder of a Diplome

of Lottotech.

Moorghen Veeramootoo - Chief Operating
Officer

Universitaire

en

Technologie

from

the

Institut

Universitaire de Technologie of Avignon in France. He

Sivalingum Candassamy - Compliance and Risk
Manager

Harikrishna Ramsamy - Chief Technology Officer
Sivalingum holds an MSc in Computer Security and

has previously occupied the post of Marketing and
Sales Manager and Business Unit Manager at Gamma

Harikrishna has a Master in Business Administration

Forensics and a Master in Business Administration

from 2004 to 2009. He has also worked as Marketing

from Heriot Watt University. He has over 20 years’

from the University Technology of Mauritius. He joined

Manager at Happy World Foods Ltd (now Innodis

experience in the IT profession and was appointed

Lottotech in 2009 and is in charge of the risk and

Ltd) from 1999 to 2004 and Cread & Co. Ltd in 1999.

as Chief Technology Officer at Lottotech in 2011. He

compliance aspects of Lottotech’s operations.
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Sivalingum Candassamy - Compliance and Risk
Manager (contd)

•

Reviewing and assessing the adequacy of the

The Audit and Risk Committee is composed of the

Company’s risk management systems, to ensure

following Directors as from August 2014:

there is a sound framework of risk oversight,
risk management and internal control in place

He assists management in identifying key risks to the

and operating in accordance with the Code of

business and ensures that appropriate controls are in
place to mitigate these to an acceptable level.

Corporate Governance for Mauritius principles and

13. Board Committees

management of risk; and

recommendations regarding the recognition and

Board Committees are formed as and when necessary
to facilitate efficient decision making. The Committees
have no executive powers but hold only an advisory
role to the Board. Any recommendations made by
the Committees, and if subsequently adopted by the
Board, do not divest the Board of Directors of their
statutory responsibilities. The Committees observe
the same rules of conduct and procedure as the Board
unless the Board determines otherwise. Committees
only speak and/or act for the Board to the extent so
authorized. Each Committee has a written Terms of
Reference setting out the responsibilities, duties and
authorities of the Committee.

•

Providing a forum for effective communications
between the Board and the external and internal
auditors, both of whom must report to the Audit and
Risk Committee.

Committees, namely the Audit and Risk Committee,
the Corporate Governance Committee, the Games

The Audit and Risk Committee assists the Board in
relation to its reporting of:
(a) Financial information;
(b) The appropriate application and amendment of
accounting policies;
(c) The identification and management of risk;
(d) The implementation of internal control systems; and

The Audit and Risk Committee reports to the Board on
its meetings and the results of any of its assessments,

Committee and the Supervisory Committee of the Board.

reviews and recommendations. In addition the Audit and

Audit and Risk Committee

for its employees to raise concerns, in confidence,

The core function of the Audit and Risk Committee is to

or other matters. The Audit and Risk Committee

Risk Committee reviews the Company’s arrangements
about possible wrongdoing in financial reporting

assist the Board of Lottotech in:

ensures that these arrangements allow proportionate

•

appropriate follow up action and review the Company’s

and independent investigation of such matters and

Reviewing and assessing the adequacy of the
Company in relation to its reporting of financial
information,

the

appropriate

application

and

amendment of accounting policies, the identification
and management of financial risk, internal control
systems and internal audit, and statutory and
regulatory compliance;
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Committee Members

Ian Sheperd
Jean-Claude Lam Hung

Non-Executive Director

Ishwurlal Golam

Non-Executive Director

Robert Ip Min Wan

For the financial year 2014, the Audit and Risk
Committee met as follows:

procedures for detecting fraud.
The Audit and Risk Committee provides a forum for
effective communication between the Board and the
internal and external auditors, both of whom report to
the Audit Committee.

All corporate governance provisions to be adopted
with prevailing corporate governance principles
applicable to the Company;

•

Remuneration and Nomination policies and any HR
programs to support the retention and development
of senior executives and employees; and

•

Determination of the composition of the Board
and its Committee, and monitoring the Board’s
effectiveness.

January 2014 to August 2014
Attendance

Tommy Ah Teck

1 of 4

Patrice Ah Teck

3 of 4

Iqbal Mallam-Hasham

0 of 4

Ishwurlal Golam

4 of 4

September 2014 to December 2014
Committee Members

•

so that the Board remains effective and complies

Role
Non-Executive Director &
Chairman
Non-Executive Director

Committee Members

(e) Internal audit, statutory and regulatory compliance.

The Board has appointed the following four permanent

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE REPORT (contd)

Attendance

Robert Ip Min Wan

1 of 1

Ian Sheperd

1 of 1

Ishwurlal Golam

1 of 1

Jean-Claude Lam Hung

1 of 1

The Corporate Governance Committee is composed of
the hereunder Directors as from August 2014:
Committee Members
Tommy Ah Teck

Role

Anwar Moollan

Non-Executive Director &
Chairman
Non-Executive Director

Robert Ip Min Wan

Executive Director

Cyril How Kin Sang

Executive Director

For the period under review the Committee met twice.
January 2014 to March 2014
Committee Members

Attendance

Corporate Governance Committee

Tommy Ah Teck

1 of 1

Patrice Ah Teck

1 of 1

The Corporate Governance Committee acts as a

Cyril How Kin Sang

1 of 1

Iqbal Mallam-Hasham

1 of 1

mechanism for making recommendations to the Board
on all corporate governance matters relevant to the
Company to ensure that the Board remains effective

April 2014 to December 2014

and complies with the Code and prevailing corporate

Committee Members
Tommy Ah Teck

governance principles.

Attendance
1 of 1

Anwar Moollan

1 of 1

The Committee also fulfils the functions of a

Cyril How Kin Sang

1 of 1

remuneration committee and that of a nomination

Robert Ip Min Wan

1 of 1

committee, and thus its core function is to assist the
Board of Lottotech Ltd in:

31

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE REPORT (contd)

Games Committee
By way of Board resolution a Quick Win Turnaround
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For the period under review the Games Committee met

The Supervisory Committee, in particular, is charged with

The Supervisory Committee of the Board is composed

5 times and the attendance was as follows:

the following functions by the Board of Directors:

as follows:

January 2014 to July 2014
•

(“QWTC”) Committee was set up on 29th April 2013 to
review the management strategy to improve Quick Win
games revenue.

Games Committee Members

To assist, monitor and supervise the CEO and
Management of Lottotech Ltd in the day to day

Attendance

management and operations of the Company;

Patrice Ah Teck

3 of 3

After the rejuvenation plan was presented and approved

Alex Burstein

3 of 3

by the Board in July 2013 and achieved its first successes,

Cyril How Kin Sang

3 of 3

Board of Directors are promptly implemented by the

the Board decided that the QWTC be renamed the

Iqbal Mallam-Hasham

0 of 3

CEO and Management of the Company;

Games Committee to review and implement future

Jean-Claude Lam Hung

2 of 3

•

•

strategies for all of the games that the Company
August 2014 to December 2014

operates.

Chair

Jean-Claude Lam Hung

Members

development of the Company, allocation of financial

Patrice Ah Teck
Alex Burstein

To ensure that the strategies and decisions of the

To supervise decisions concerning the business

Cyril How Kin Sang

For the year under review the Committee met 7 times
and the attendance was as follows:
January 2014 – July 2014

resources and purchase or transfer of know-how,
The Games Committee meets a minimum of 4 times a
year, mainly before Board meetings to review progress

Games Committee Members
Ian Shepherd

2 of 2

any new initiatives that will be presented to the Board

Patrice Ah Teck

2 of 2

for consideration.

Alex Burstein

2 of 2

Cyril How Kin Sang

2 of 2

Jean-Claude Lam Hung

2 of 2

of performance of current games and to examine

The Games Committee is composed of the following

Ian Shepherd

•

To be the direct reporting line of the CEO on behalf
of the Board of Directors;

•

Supervisory Committee Members

Attendance

Paul Cyril How Kin Sang

5 of 5

Patrice Ah Teck

5 of 5

Jean-Claude Lam Hung

4 of 5

To monitor the appointments, modifications of
function and revocations of those officers holding

August 2014 – December 2014

senior management positions;

Board members:
Games Committee
Members

patents and trademarks;

Attendance

Supervisory Committee
Role
Independent Non-Executive
Director & Chairman

•

To ensure that the CEO and Management exercise

Supervisory Committee Members

Attendance

By way of Board resolution dated 25 March 2014, the

proper daily management of the Company in line

Paul Cyril How Kin Sang

2 of 2

Board set up a Supervisory Committee of the Board. The

with approved annual operating plans and the

Patrice Ah Teck

2 of 2

purpose of setting up a Supervisory Committee was to:

Management Agreement between Lottotech Ltd

Alex Burstein

2 of 2

and A. S. Burstein Management Ltd.

Jean-Claude Lam Hung

2 of 2

Alex Burstein

Non-Executive Director

Cyril How Kin Sang

Non-Executive Director

Iqbal Mallam-Hasham

Non-Executive Director

and Management of Lottotech Ltd in the day to day

In order to discharge and fulfill their responsibilities, the

Patrice Ah Teck

Non-Executive Director

management and operations of the Company, on

members of Supervisory Committee of the Board may

behalf of the Board; and

interact on a daily basis with the CEO and Management

•

Jean-Claude Lam Hung Non-Executive Director

Specifically assist, monitor and supervise the CEO

1

1. Alex Burstein was nominated as member of the Committee as from
August 2014.

of the Company.
The CEO and the COO are not members of the
Committee but they are as a rule requested by the
Committee to attend and contribute to the Games
Committee meetings.
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•

Monitor

the

performance

of

the

CEO

and

Management of Lottotech Ltd, if necessary, and
make necessary recommendation to the Board
of Directors.
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Special services rendered by individual members, in

18. Directors’ Dealings in Shares of the Company

The Directors are thus fully aware of the principles of the
Model of Code of Securities Transactions by Directors, as

particular activities specifically delegated to members
The Lottotech’s Code of Professional and Ethical

of the Board pertaining to management or supervision,

As part of the Company’s statutory quarterly reporting

detailed in Appendix 6 of the Mauritius Stock Exchange

Conduct (“Code of Conduct”) provides guidance to

may be rewarded by the Board as it deems fit.

process to the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd and the

Listing Rules.

all Directors and employees of Lottotech Ltd, of their

Financial Services Commission, the Company Secretary

duty and obligation to conduct themselves and their

Remuneration and benefits received and receivable by

would request the Directors to confirm their shareholding

During the period under review, the share dealings by

business affairs in accordance with the highest standards

the Directors from the Company are as follows:

and any dealings which they may have effected in the

Directors were as follows:

of business ethics. The fulfillment of these standards
must be respected to allow Lottotech Ltd to maintain the

Company’s shares, with reference to Code of Securities

required level of professional standards, build a positive

Remuneration and benefits paid by
the Company

reputation and goodwill in the marketplace and increase

Directors

Transactions by Directors.

MUR
11,347,975

investor and customer confidence. Integrity should
permeate all areas of the Company.

Directors
Note: The Directors’ remuneration is disclosed in
aggregate in view of the confidentiality of the information.

This Code shall form part of the contract of employment
and contract of services of all concerned.

Carl Ah Teck
Alex Burstein

17. Directors’ Share Interests

Anwar Moollan
Patrice Ah Teck

15. Safety, Health and Environment

As at 31 December 2014, the Directors’ share interests in

Tommy Ah Teck

the Company were:

Ishwurlal Golam
Ian Shepherd

The Company complies with the Occupational Safety
and Health Act 2005 and other applicable legislative and
regulatory frameworks. It is committed to sustainable

Directors

conducted in ways that minimize their impact on the

Numer of shares
Direct

development and ensures that its operations are
Carl Ah Teck

Jean-Claude Lam Hung
Michelle Carinci
Iqbal Mallam-Hasham

Indirect

147,840

32,468,565

-

32,531,726

environment and on society at large.

Tommy Ah Teck

16.Directors’ Remuneration and Benefits

Patrice Ah Teck

147,840

32,468,565

Cyril How Kin Sang

147,840

34,619,565

42,823

109,527

Jean-Claude Lam Hung
For their obligations and responsibilities of the Board

Ian Shepherd

-

-

and Board Committees as stated in this Board Charter,

Robert Ip Min Wan

-

-

the Non-Executive members of the Board shall receive,

Anwar Moollan

-

-

in addition to reimbursement of their expenses, a fixed

Alex Burstein

-

-

38,796

14,434

annual Board fee as remuneration, independent of the
business’ results, and this fee shall be determined by the

Michelle Carinci

Cyril How Kin Sang
Robert Ip Min Wan

19. Directors’ Service Contracts

Number
of Shares
Sold
Indirectly

Number
of Shares
Purchased
Directly

Number
of Shares
Purchased
Indirectly

147,840

22,216

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

147,840

22,216

-

-

-

-

-

Number of
Shares Sold
Directly

11,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

42,823

65,424

-

-

38,796

14,434

-

-

-

-

-

-

147,840

30,541

-

-

-

-

-

-

tax as dividend, except as otherwise resolved by the
shareholders by way of Ordinary Resolution.

The Directors have no service contracts with the Company.

The Board has a target dividend policy whereby almost
100% of net profit after tax is declared as dividends,

20. Dividend Policy

subject to the Company meeting the Solvency Test.
As a general rule, it is expected that the Company will

As per Lottotech’s constitution, the Company shall

declare an interim dividend in or around August and a

distribute a minimum of 75% of its annual net profit after

final dividend in or around March following the year-end.

Board in line with a Remuneration policy, duly approved
by the Shareholders in a non-binding vote.
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24. Management Agreements

25. Auditors’ Remuneration

For the implementation of the risk management systems
and the management of risks within Lottotech Ltd on a

Gamma-Civic Ltd through its intermediate holding

In November 2009, Lottotech entered into a management

For the period under review, the auditors’ fees paid by

day-to-day basis, the Board delegates that task to the

companies entered into a shareholders’ agreement

services agreement with A.S. Burstein Management

the Company are as per table below:

CEO. The management of risk within Lottotech Ltd is

with the State Investment Corporation for Lottotech to

Ltd (“ASB”), a subsidiary of Gamma-Civic Ltd, for the

implement and operate the Mauritius National Lottery

following services:

and SIC became a shareholder of Lottotech.

•

The agreement stipulates that the parties shall cause
Lottotech to obtain the licence to operate the Mauritius
National Lottery and they shall not directly or indirectly
compete with Lottotech.

22.Share Option Scheme
There is no share option scheme within the Company.

23. Share Price Graph

MUR

Assisting and supervising management in the
running of the operations;

•

Business development;

•

Marketing and sales and product development;

•

Human resources and administrative support;

•

Finance and procurement;

Audit fees
Tax fees
Fee for accountants’ report

and effective business operations, and safe and
environmentally responsive activities.

1,500,0000

26. Related Party Transactions

Management information systems and security; and

•

Legal,
accounting,
information
technology,
secretarial and risk management services.

27. Contract of Significance

In November 2009, ASB signed a management

The Company has no contract of significance with either

agreement with Gamma-Civic Ltd for the same services.

a Director or a controlling shareholder, except for that
disclosed in section 18.

28. Risk Management, Internal Controls and
Internal Audit

12.25

The Board of Lottotech Ltd has the ultimate responsibility

12

for the identification and management of risk of the

11.75

Company. Lottotech Ltd shall undertake, at least once

11.5

a year, a formal risk assessment review to confirm and

11.25

re-prioritize its key business risks and to reassess its risk

11

profile. The Board shall oversee the establishment and

10.75

implementation of effective risk management systems

10.5

Closing Price - 10.6

10.25
10
11-Jun-14
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with relevant legal and regulatory obligations, efficient

105,000

•

12.5

It underpins reliable financial reporting, compliance

590,000

Please refer to Note 18 of the Financial Statements.

Lottotech Ltd - Share Price Year 2014

Price - Rs

recognized as a critical part of its business operations.

It is the responsibility of all Lottotech employees as part
of their day-to-day activities to ensure that Lottotech
Ltd complies, as appropriate, with its legal, regulatory,
contractual and compliance obligations, and to take
appropriate action as required to manage, monitor and
report risks.
To manage the risk exposures faced by Lottotech Ltd, the
Board recognizes the need to identify areas of significant
business risk and to develop and implement strategies
to investigate those risks as a basis of a formal system of
risk management and internal control and compliance.
The Audit and Risk Committee of the Board meets
regularly to evaluate, control, review and oversee the
implementation of Lottotech Ltd’s objectives. Lottotech
Ltd’s strategic and business plans are formulated in the
context of the risk exposures identified by Lottotech Ltd
and the requirements to effectively manage those risks
as part of Lottotech Ltd’s operations.

and the monitoring of internal controls and compliance.
The Audit and Risk Committee, on behalf of the Board,
will review the effectiveness of Lottotech Ltd’s risk

11-Jul-14

11-Aug-14

11-Sep-14

11-Oct-14

11-Nov-14

11-Dec-14

management systems, including reviewing and updating
its risk profile.
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Management has identified key risks which are grouped

To date, no material financial problems, which would have

by one of these categories:

an impact on the results as reported in these financial

•

Financial;

statements, have been identified. The Board confirms

•

Business interruption;

that if significant weaknesses had been identified during

•

Reputational;

this review, the Board would have taken the necessary

•

Legal & regulatory;

steps to remedy them.

•

Human resource; and

•

Strategic.

•

•

established based on the following principles:

included in the audit plan, and deciding on the scope

conjunction with management, the Audit Committee

and timing of audits.
Internal Audit reports to management, the Audit and

Undertakes reviews as requested by management

Risk Committee and the Board significant issues relating

and the Audit Committee;

to the processes and activities identified in an audit
assignment including potential improvements to those

•

is an integral part of the management and decision
making processes in the Company. The RMF has been

Validates the key risks to the Company’s operations, in
and the Board;

Lottotech Ltd has established an internal control
components:
Management is responsible for the application of the
RMF, for implementing and monitoring the operation

Review the adequacy of the design and effectiveness

processes. Internal Audit monitors the timely action

of controls to manage key risks to the organisation

by management in response to audit findings and will

and to ensure compliance with policies, plan,

be responsible for the formal acceptance of closure of

procedures and business objectives established by

issues on a periodic basis.

management; and

of the system of internal control and for providing
•

There is a clearly defined approach for risk

assurance to the Audit & Risk Committee and the

management setting out its strategy and objectives

Board; and

adopts to achieve them;

•

Review established procedures and systems and
to be good industry practice advice).

•

The Internal Audit Function provides independent

There is a clearly defined process to identify, assess

assurance

and mitigate the significant risks to the achievement

robustness of the RMF and the appropriateness

of business objectives; and

and effectiveness of internal control to the Audit

There is an on-going process to monitor the risk

Committee and the Board.

and

objective

assessment

on

the

profile and identifying and responding to significant
issues and events.

Internal Audit has free and unrestricted access to staff and
•

information in order to carry out its work appropriately.

propose improvements (including those considered

and the approaches and processes that the Company
•

Internal Audit is responsible for planning, conducting,
reporting and following up on audit assignments

•

framework which comprises the following two main
The Risk Management Framework (“RMF”) in place

To fulfil its responsibilities, Internal Audit:

The Company has an internal audit function, which is
carried out by Ernst & Young. The primary objective of

29. Interest Register

To ensure independence, Internal Audit is directly

The Company has an Interest Register and for the period

accountable to the Audit and Risk Committee and the

under review there is no entry recorded in the Register.

Board, to which it has free access. To maintain objectivity,
Internal Audit is not authorised to perform any day-to-

30. Statement of Remuneration Philosophy

day control activities or take operational responsibility for
any part of the company outside Internal Audit. Instead

The Company has no written statement of remuneration

management is responsible for maintaining an efficient

philosophy but it nevertheless aims to offer fair and

and effective system of internal controls.

competitive compensation packages.

31. Corporate Social Responsibility

Further details on financial risks in relation to financial

Internal Audit is to deliver a reasonable level of assurance

instruments for the Company are outlined in Note 3 of

to those in charge of governance that systems of control

Internal Audit prepares a rolling annual audit plan setting

the Financial Statements.

as established by management are appropriate and are

out areas of risk to be reviewed. The plan is based on a risk

operating effectively. In other words, the main role of

assessment that identifies business objectives, key risks

Lottotech contributes significantly to the Consolidated

The Company has in place a robust process for

Internal Audit is to provide assurance that the business is

impacting those objectives and takes into consideration

Fund of the Government of Mauritius. As

identifying, classifying and managing significant risks.

managing its key risks effectively.

input from management and other key stakeholders. The

Gambling Regulatory Act 2008, any money paid into the

order of priority, the proposed resource requirements

Consolidated Fund is used to finance the implementation

and the scope for each audit assignment is decided

of projects relating to community development, the

according to risk and the direction of the Audit and Risk

promotion of education, health, sports and culture and

Committee and the Board. The rolling annual internal

for reimbursement of public debt of Government.

The effectiveness of the internal control systems is
reviewed by the Audit and Risk Committee and provides
the Board with reasonable assurance that the assets are
safeguarded, that operations are carried effectively and
efficiently, that the financial controls are reliable and
comply with applicable laws and regulations.
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Operate and maintain company vehicles (where

35. Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The Directors confirm that they have complied with
the above requirements in preparing the financial

appropriate) with due regard to environmental issues

statements.

The Company did not make any donation for the period

as far as reasonably practical and encourage the use

The Companies Act 2001 requires the directors to prepare

under review.

of alternative means of transport and car sharing as

financial statements for each financial year, which present

appropriate;

fairly the financial position and financial performance of

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper

the Company. In preparing those financial statements,

accounting records, which disclose with reasonable

the Directors are required to:

accuracy at any time the financial position of the

33. Environmental Policy
•

Apply the principles of continuous improvement in

Lottotech Ltd believes that businesses are responsible for

respect of air, water, noise and light pollution from

achieving good environmental practice and operating in

our premises and reduce any impacts from our

a sustainable manner.

operations on the environment and local community;

Company and to enable them to ensure that the financial
a. Select suitable accounting policies and then apply
them consistently;

statements comply with the Mauritius Companies Act
2001 and International Financial Reporting Standards.
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets

The Company is therefore committed to reducing

•

As far as possible purchase products and services

its environmental impact and continually improving

that do the least damage to the environment and

the environmental performance as an integral and

encourage others to do the same; and

It is the Board’s priority to encourage customers,

and prudent;

of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps
for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.

c. State whether International Financial Reporting

fundamental part of the Company’s business strategy
and operating methods.

b. Make judgments and estimates that are reasonable

•

Assess the environmental impact of any new

Standards (IFRS) have been followed and complied

The Board acknowledges that the responsibility of

processes or products we intend to introduce in

with, subject to any material departures disclosed

the external auditors is to report on these financial

advance.

and explained in the financial statements;

statements.

suppliers and all business associates to do the same.
Not only is this sound commercial sense for all but it is

34. Calendar of Events

also a matter of delivering on our duty of care towards

For the financial year under review the Board held the

reasonable internal accuracy at any time the financial

future generations.

following statutory Board meetings:

position of the Company;

Lottotech Ltd’s policy is to:
•

Meeting

Wholly support and comply with or exceed the

Date
March 2014

requirements of current environmental legislation
and codes of practice;
•

Minimise waste and then reuse or recycle as much of
it as possible;

•

Minimise energy and water usage in our buildings,
vehicles and processes in order to conserve supplies,

May 2014
Statutory
Reporting

August 2014
November
2014

d. Keep proper accounting records which disclose with

Events

e. Safeguard the assets of the Company by maintaining
internal accounting and administrative control

Publication of audited
results for the year ended
31 December 2013
Publication of
quarter results ended
31 March 2014
Publication of half year’s
results ended 30 June
2014
Publication of nine
months’ results ended
30 September 2014

On behalf of the Board

systems and procedures, and risk management;
f.

Michelle Carinci
Director

Cyril How Kin Sang
Director

Take reasonable steps for the prevention of fraud and
other irregularities; and

04 March 2015

g. Prepare the financial statements on the going
concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume
that the Company will continue in business.

and minimise our consumption of natural resources,
especially where they are non-renewable;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE
SHAREHOLDERS OF LOTTOTECH LTD

LOTTOTECH LTD
under Section 166(d) of the Companies Act 2001
We confirm that, based on records and information made available to us by the directors and shareholders of the
Company, the Company has filed with the Registrar of Companies, for the year ended 31 December 2014, all such
returns as are required of the Company under the Mauritian Companies Act 2001.

Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the financial statements of Lottotech

Auditing. Those Standards require that we comply with

Ltd on pages 50 to 82 which comprise the statement

ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to

of financial position at 31 December 2014 and the

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

statements are free from material misstatement.

income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year
Gamma Corporate Services Ltd
SECRETARY

04 March 2015

then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial
Statements
The Company’s directors are responsible for the
preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards and in compliance with the
requirements of the Mauritian Companies Act 2001,
and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In
making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and
fair presentation of the financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the financial statements.

financial statements based on our audit. We conducted

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained

our audit in accordance with International Standards on

is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
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Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements on pages 50 to
82 give a true and fair view of the financial position of
the Company at 31 December 2014 and of its financial

of Corporate Governance of Mauritius (“Code”). The
Financial Reporting Act 2004 requires us to report on
these disclosures, where the directors disclose the
extent of compliance with the code.

performance and its cash flows for the year then ended

In our opinion, the disclosures in the annual report are

in accordance with International Financial Reporting

consistent with requirements of the Code.

Standards and comply with the Mauritian Companies
Act 2001.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Other Matter
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for
and only for the Company’s shareholders, as a body, in

The Mauritian Companies Act 2001 requires that in

accordance with Section 205 of the Mauritian Companies

carrying out our audit we consider and report to you on

Act 2001 and for no other purpose. We do not, in

the following matters. We confirm that:

giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for

(a)

We have no relationship with or interests in the
Company other than in our capacity as auditor, as
tax advisor and as transaction advisor;

(b)

any other purpose or to any other person to whom this
report is shown or into whose hands it may come save
where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

we have obtained all the information and
explanations we have required; and

(c)

in our opinion, proper accounting records have
been kept by the Company as far as appears from
our examination of those records.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Mushtaq Oosman
Licensed by FRC

Financial Reporting Act 2004
The directors are responsible for preparing the

04 March 2015

Corporate Governance Report on pages 19 to 41 and
making disclosures required by Section 8.4 of the Code
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR
THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

Note

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2014

Year ended
31 December
2014

Period from
1 July 2012 to
31 December 2013

MUR

MUR

Gross ticket sales

4

2,725,700,210

3,876,363,745

Prizes

4

(1,378,619,403)

(1,997,587,441)

Consolidated Fund

5

(621,812,500)

(605,063,999)

Net income

4

725,268,307

1,273,712,305

31 December
2014

31 December
2013

MUR

MUR

11

202,379,471

229,760,861

Inventories

12

18,008,288

14,342,748

13

32,192,456

111,581,339

14

199,194,170

199,507,103

249,394,914

325,431,190

451,774,385

555,192,051

100,000,000

100,000,000

Note
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Current assets

Retailers’ and other commissions

(150,069,496)

(214,178,333)

Trade and other receivables

Gaming systems and data communication costs

(174,065,283)

(282,896,903)

Cash and cash equivalents

Gross profit

401,133,528

776,637,069

Administrative expenses

(211,554,140)

(381,186,015)

Operating profit

6

189,579,388

395,451,054

Finance income

7

7,413,171

11,978,335

Finance costs

7

(217,296)

(1,074,075)

Net finance income

7

7,195,875

10,904,260

196,775,263

406,355,314

(29,813,502)

(62,895,249)

166,961,761

343,460,065

Profit before taxation
Income tax expense

9

Profit for the year/period

1

Other comprehensive income

20

Total comprehensive income for the year/period
Basic and diluted earnings per share
1

Profit for the year/period before net listing expenses
Net listing expenses
Profit for the year/period

Equity and liabilities
Capital and reserves
Stated capital

15

Retained earnings
Total equity

54,826,723

284,912

154,826,723

100,284,912

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings

16

-

882,315

Deferred income tax liabilities

19

8,593,507

4,677,159

Post-employment benefits

20

2,520,000

4,141,000

11,113,507

9,700,474

Current liabilities

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Remeasurement of post-employment benefit obligations –
net of tax

Total assets

10

(219,950)

(965,000)

166,741,811

342,495,065

0.49

1.01

172,937,761

343,460,065

(5,976,000)

-

166,961,761

343,460,065

Borrowings

16

874,948

1,746,805

Trade and other payables

17

279,320,984

389,872,589

Dividend payable

21

-

40,000,000

Current income tax liabilities

9

5,638,223

13,587,271

285,834,155

445,206,665

Total liabilities

296,947,662

454,907,139

Total equity and liabilities

451,774,385

555,192,051

Authorised for issue by the Board of directors on and signed on its behalf by:

Michelle Carinci
Director

Robert Ip Min Wan
Director

04 March 2015
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

Note

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR
THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

Stated

Retained

Total

capital

Earnings

Equity

MUR

MUR

MUR

100,000,000

(92,210,153)

7,789,847

Profit for the period

-

343,460,065

343,460,065

Other comprehensive loss for the period
Total comprehensive income for
the period

-

(965,000)

(965,000)

-

342,495,065

342,495,065

-

(250,000,000)

(250,000,000)

At 01 July 2012

Dividends

21

At 31 December 2013

100,000,000

At 01 January 2014

100,000,000

284,912
284,912

100,284,912
100,284,912

Profit for the year

-

166,961,761

166,961,761

Other comprehensive loss for the year

-

(219,950)

(219,950)

Total comprehensive income for the year

-

166,741,811

166,741,811

Dividends
At 31 December 2014

21

-

(112,200,000)

(112,200,000)

100,000,000

54,826,723

154,826,723

Note

Year ended
31 December
2014

Period from
1 July 2012 to
31 December
2013

MUR

MUR

196,775,263

406,355,314

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment

11

59,299,929

85,589,152

Reversal of provision for impairment of receivables

13

(2,500,000)

-

227,220

2,315,034

(Reversal)/provision for post-employment benefits

20

(1,886,000)

1,098,000

Inventory provision/write-down

12

3,617,326

30,000,000

Interest expense

7

217,296

1,074,075

Interest income

7

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

(7,413,171)

(11,978,335)

248,337,863

514,453,240

Increase in inventories

(7,282,866)

(13,536,839)

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables

81,888,883

(35,343,942)

Decrease in trade and other payables

(110,551,605)

(210,079,218)

Cash generated from operations

212,392,275

255,493,241

7

(217,296)

(1,074,075)

Interest received

7

7,413,171

11,978,335

Post-employment benefits paid

20

-

(360,000)

Operating profit before working capital changes

Interest paid

Income tax paid
Net cash from operating activities

(33,801,152)

(38,083,555)

185,786,998

227,953,946

(32,952,759)

(66,173,822)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

11

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities

807,000

570,000

(32,145,759)

(65,603,822)

Cash flows from financing activities
Finance lease principal payments
Dividends paid

21

Net cash used in financing activities
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

14

(1,279,963)

(6,903,750)

(152,200,000)

(210,000,000)

(153,479,963)

(216,903,750)

161,276

(54,553,626)

199,032,894

253,586,520

199,194,170

199,032,894

The notes on pages 56 to 82 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2014

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Significant accounting judgements and estimates

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2014 (contd)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (contd)

based game, income is recognised on a draw-by-draw

2.1 Basis of preparation (contd)

Revenue from scratch cards is recognised at the point of

The Company is incorporated and domiciled in the

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated

Republic of Mauritius as a public company. Its registered

and are based on historical experience and other

office is situated at Royal Road, Chapman Hill, Beau

factors, including expectations of future events that are

Bassin, Republic of Mauritius.

believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The

Other key assumptions for pension obligations are

Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning

based in part on current market conditions. Additional

The Company is the Operator of the Mauritius National

the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by

information is disclosed in Note 20.

Lottery.

definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The

sale by retailers.

The presentation of net income is consistent with
common practice within the gaming industry.

2.3 Prizes

addressed below.

(i) New and amended standards adopted by the
Company

Post-employment benefits

Numerous

mechanism under which a predetermined percentage of

causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are

The principal accounting policies adopted in the
preparation of these financial statements, which have

new

standards,

amendments

and

interpretations to existing standards have been issued

been consistently applied to all years presented, unless
otherwise stated, are set out below:

The present value of the pension obligations depends on
basis using a number of assumptions. The assumptions

2.2 Gross ticket sales

a rollover to subsequent draws. The liability for prizes
predetermined percentage for that game.

The financial statements have been prepared in

employment benefits include the discount rate. Any

Revenue represents gross ticket sales, which comprises the

accordance with and comply with International Financial

changes in these assumptions will impact the carrying

fair value of the consideration received or receivable for

Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The financial statements

amount of post-employment benefits.

the sale of lottery tickets and scratch cards in the ordinary

and are presented in Mauritian Rupees (‘MUR’).

course of the Company’s activities. Revenue is shown net of
The Actuary determines the appropriate discount rate at

the ticket sales is allocated to prizes. To the extent that the
actual prizes won on the draw vary from the predetermined

used in determining the net cost (income) for post-

have been prepared under the historical cost convention,

The draw-based game is operated under a prize pool

but that are not significant/relevant to the Company.

a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial

2.1 Basis of preparation

All revenue is derived from Mauritius and Rodrigues.

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

basis, at the point at which the draw takes place.

percentage, the relevant prize is carried forward under
is recognised at the time of the draw in line with the

The liability for scratch cards prizes are recognised as a
percentage of ticket sales in line with the theoretical prize

value-added tax (VAT), returns, rebates and discounts.

payout for that game.
If prizes remain unclaimed for (i) 184 days from the date of

the end of each year. This is the interest rate that should be
The preparation of financial statements in accordance

used to determine the present value of estimated future

The Company recognises revenue when the amount of

with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting

cash outflows expected to be required to settle the post-

revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that

estimates.

It also requires the directors to exercise

employment benefits. In determining the appropriate

future economic benefits will flow to the Company

judgement in the process of applying the Company’s

discount rate, the Actuary considers the interest rates of

and when specific criteria have been met for each

accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree

government bonds that are denominated in the currency

of the Company’s activities as described below. The

of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions

in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms

Company bases its estimates on historical results, taking

and estimates are significant to the financial statements

to maturity approximating the terms of the related post-

into consideration the type of game sold, the type of

are disclosed below.

employment benefits.

transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

2.4 Consolidated Fund

Revenue arises across a portfolio of games that includes

The Consolidated Fund is a fund managed by the

a draw-based game and scratch cards. For the draw-
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the draw-based game and (ii) 90 days from the close of a
scratch card game, the unclaimed prizes are transferred
from the prize liability account to the National Solidarity
Fund. Those payments are not charged to profit or loss as
they are already included in the prize liability.

Government of Mauritius.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2014 (contd)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (contd)

Depreciation is provided in full in the month of addition
and in respect of assets written off and disposed, up to

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (contd)

on disposal are determined by comparing proceeds with

The amount charged to profit or loss represents a
percentage arising from gross ticket and scratch card
sales net of prize monies paid.

2.5 Retailers’ and other commissions
The Company pays commissions to third party retailers
who act as agents of the Company under a standard
commission structure, fixed at a percentage of total sales.

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for

value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out

impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances

(“FIFO”) method. The cost includes cost of instant cards,

indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

ticket rolls, bet slips, insurance, freight, customs duty

the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of an asset’s net selling
price and value in use. For the purpose of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest level from

similar commission structure is applicable for the Field

which there are separately identifiable cash flows.

Sales and Technical Representatives in Rodrigues.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,

Expenses are accounted for on an accrual basis. All
expenses are charged to profit or loss.

only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Company and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other

2.7 Property, plant and equipment

repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
Historical cost

includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

during the financial year in which they are incurred.
The asset’s residual values and useful lives are reviewed
and adjusted if necessary, at end of each reporting
period.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight line method

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits
with original maturities of three months or less and bank
overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings

Inventories are stated at lower of cost and net realisable

In addition, validation commission is paid on prizes. A

2.6 Expenses

2.8 Inventories

carrying amount and are included in profit or loss.

An impairment is recognised for the amount by which

2.10 Cash and cash equivalents
held at call with banks, other short-term investments

the month of write off and disposal. Gains and losses

2.4 Consolidated Fund (contd)

cost less accumulated depreciation.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2014 (contd)

in current liabilities.

2.11 Stated capital

and any other direct costs. Net realisable value is the

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs

estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business,

directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown

less applicable variable selling expenses. If a Quick Win

in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

game does not perform to expectations, the stock of
cards is written off as and when deemed appropriate.

2.12 Trade payables

2.9 Trade receivables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business

Trade receivables are amounts due from retailers

from suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current

for tickets sold in the ordinary course of business. If

liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the

collection is expected in one year or less (or in the

normal operating cycle of the business if longer).

normal operating cycle of the business, if longer), they
are classified as current assets.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value

effective interest method.

and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less provision for impairment.

2.13 Borrowings

A provision for impairment of trade receivables is
established when there is objective evidence that

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of

the Company will not be able to collect all amounts

transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently

due according to the original terms of receivables.

to allocate their costs to their residual values over their

Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases

stated at amortised cost; any difference between the

Significant financial difficulties of the retailer, probability

proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption

estimated useful lives as follows:

are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the

that the retailer will enter into bankruptcy or financial

value is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and

same basis as owned assets.

reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments

other comprehensive income over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

Leasehold improvements

3 - 10 years

are considered indicators that the trade receivable is

Equipment

3 - 10 years

impaired. The amount of the provision is the difference

Furniture and fittings

8 years

between the asset’s carrying amount and the present

Borrowings are classified as current liability unless the

Motor vehicles

6 - 7 years

value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the

Company has an unconditional right to defer settlement of

effective interest rate.

the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2014 (contd)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (contd)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2014 (contd)

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, for all temporary differences arising between the

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (contd)

tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying values

2.13 Borrowings (contd)

for financial reporting purposes. Currently enacted tax

to the terms of the related pension obligation. In countries
where there is no deep market in such bonds, the market
rates on government bonds are used.

2.15 Provisions (contd)

rates are used to determine deferred income tax.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience
adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are

Provisions are measured at the present value of the

charged or credited to equity in other comprehensive

recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent

The

from

expenditures expected to be required to settle the

income in the period in which they arise.

that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be

accelerated capital allowances and provision for

obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market

drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the

post-employment benefits, provision for bad debts,

assessments of the time value of money and the risks

draw-down occurs. To the extent that there is evidence

unrealised exchange differences on revenue items and

specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision

that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be

accumulated tax losses.

due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

(b) Short-term employee benefits

liquidity services and amortised over the period of the

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the

(a) Post-employment benefits

Other employee benefits include wages, salaries, social

facility to which it relates.

extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
principal

temporary

differences

arise

Past-service costs are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for
security contributions and travelling. These costs are

be available against which the temporary differences can

Employees are entitled to a gratuity payment on retirement

charged to the statement of profit or loss and other

Bank overdrafts, bank loans and finance lease liabilities are

be utilised. The directors apply judgment to determine

under the terms of the Employment Rights Act 2008.

comprehensive income when incurred.

included in borrowings in the statement of financial position.

whether sufficient future taxable profit will be available
after considering, amongst others, factors such as cash

The net present value of post-employment benefits

Employee entitlement to annual leave and other benefits

flows and budgets.

payable under the Employment Rights Act 2008 is

are recognised when they accrue to the employees.

calculated by a qualified actuary and is provided for. The

Provisions are made for the estimated liability for annual

obligations arising from this item is not funded.

leave and other benefits as a result of services rendered

2.14 Current and deferred income tax
The tax expense for the period comprises current and

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when

deferred income tax and Corporate Social Responsibility

the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to the

(“CSR”) tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, except

income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on

Typically defined benefit plans define an amount of pension

to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other

either the same taxable entity or different entities where

benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually

comprehensive income or directly in equity.

there is no intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of

In this

case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

2.15 Provisions

by employees up to the reporting date.

(c) Defined contribution

service and compensation. The liability recognised in

The company operates a defined contribution pension

the statement of financial position in respect of defined

plan for certain qualifying employees. The assets of the

benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined

plan are held separately from those of the company in

The current income tax charge is calculated on the

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a

benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less

funds under the control of an independent management

basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted

present legal or constructive obligation as a result of

the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation

committee.

at the reporting date. The directors periodically

past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources

is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the

to full vesting of the contributions, the contributions

evaluate positions taken in tax returns with respect to

will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable

projected unit credit method.

payable by the company are reduced by the amount of

situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to

estimate of the amount can be made. Provisions are not

interpretation.

recognised for future operating losses.

Where employees leave the plan prior

forfeited contributions. Any residual gratuities under
The present value of the defined benefit obligation is

the Employment Rights Act 2008 for the qualifying

determined by discounting the estimated future cash

employees after allowing for permitted deductions in

It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis

outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds

respect of the pension plan are included in the post-

of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits

employment benefits in respect of The Employment

will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating

Rights Act 2008.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2014 (contd)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (contd)

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2014 (contd)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (contd)

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of

classified as operating leases. Payments made under

2.16 Employee benefits (contd)

operating leases are charged to the statement of profit

2.18 Financial Instruments (contd)

line basis over the period of the lease.

Termination benefits are payable when employment

The Company leases certain property, plant and

is terminated by the Company before the normal

equipment. Leases of property, plant and equipment

retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts

where the Company has substantially all the risks

voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits.

and rewards of ownership are classified as finance

The Company recognises termination benefits at the

leases.

earlier of the following dates: (a) when the Company can

commencement at the lower of the fair value of the lease

no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b)

property and the present value of the minimum lease

when the entity recognises costs for a restructuring that

payments.

Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and
finance charges. The corresponding rental obligations,

In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary

net of finance charges, are included in non-current

redundancy, the termination benefits are measured

liabilities. The interest element of the finance charge

based on the number of employees expected to accept

is charged to the statement of profit or loss and other

the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after

comprehensive income over the lease period so as

the end of the reporting period are discounted to their

to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on

present value.

the remaining balance of the liability for each period.
Property, plant and equipment acquired under finance

(e) Profit-sharing and bonus plans

(a) Loans and receivables

description of the significant risk factors is given below
together with the risk management policies applicable.

is within the scope of IAS 37 and involves the payment of
termination benefits.

financial risks, including market risk (foreign exchange
risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. A

or loss and other comprehensive income on a straight-

(d) Termination Benefits

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

leases are depreciated over the shorter of the assets
useful life and the lease term.

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted

The Company’s overall risk management programme

in an active market. They are included in current assets,

focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets

except for maturities greater than 12 months after the

and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the

reporting date. These are classified as non-current assets.

Company’s performance.

The Company’s loans and receivables comprise ‘trade
and other receivables’ and ‘cash and cash equivalents’ in

Risk management is carried out by management under

the statement of financial position.

policies approved by the Board of Directors.

(b) Recognition and measurement

Financial instruments by category

Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

(c) Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the statement of financial position when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts

Financial Assets
Trade and other
receivables
Cash and cash
equivalents

and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Company recognises a liability and an expense for
bonuses and profit-sharing, based on a formula that

2.18 Financial Instruments

2.19 Segment information

Classification

Segmental reporting is based on the internal reports

takes into consideration the profit attributable to the
company’s shareholders after certain adjustments. The

regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker

Company recognises a provision where contractually
obliged or where there is a past practice that has created

The Company classifies its financial assets as ‘loans and

in order to allocate resources to the segment and to

a constructive obligation.

receivables’. The classification depends on the purpose

assess their performance. The operating segment is the

for which the financial assets were acquired. The directors

gaming segment.

2.17 Finance leases

Financial Liabilities
Borrowings
Trade and other
payables

31 December
2014

31 December
2013

MUR
Loans and
receivables

MUR
Loans and
receivables

26,047,755

111,413,833

199,194,170

199,507,103

225,241,925

310,920,936

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost

Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost

874,948

2,629,120

279,320,984

389,872,589

280,195,932

392,501,709

determine the classification of its financial assets at initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2014 (contd)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2014 (contd)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (contd)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (contd)

exposures to retailers, including outstanding receivables.

Market Risk

Market Risk (contd)

For cash and cash equivalents, the Company manages
its credit risk by banking with reputable financial

(i) Currency risk

(i) Currency risk (contd)

institutions. The directors assess the credit quality of the
retailer, taking into account its financial position, past

Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions or recognised assets or liabilities are denominated

The Company has not engaged in any hedging

experience and other factors. Individual risk limits are

in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency.

transactions to mitigate its risks relating to exchange rate

set based on internal ratings in accordance with limits

fluctuations.

set by the management. The utilisation of credit limits is
regularly monitored.

The Company carries its operations locally and therefore is not exposed to foreign exchange risk except for transactions
with suppliers and bank accounts denominated in foreign currency, which are mainly United States dollars (“USD”).

The directors believe that a 5% shift in foreign exchange

As such, the Company is exposed to the exchange rate movement of the Mauritian rupee against the United States

rate is an appropriate basis for the sensitivity analysis.

The maximum exposure with respect to credit risk
arise from default of the counter party with a maximum

dollars.

(ii) Interest rate risk

financial assets. Management is of view that credit risk

The currency profile of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities which are denominated in foreign currency is
The Company’s income and operating cash flows may

summarised as follows:

exposure equal to the carrying amount of the Company’s
exposure is low at 31 December 2014.

be affected by changes in market interest rates. The
31 December
2014

31 December
2014

31 December
2013

31 December
2013

Financial
assets
MUR

Financial
liabilities
MUR

Financial
assets
MUR

Financial
liabilities
MUR

214,466,784

280,195,932

305,011,113

389,327,430

United States dollar

8,448,946

-

3,436,964

3,174,279

Euro

2,326,195

-

2,472,859

-

225,241,925

280,195,932

310,920,936

392,501,709

Mauritian rupee

Company’s policy is to maximise returns on interest-

The directors believe that the Company has no significant

bearing assets.

concentration of credit risk and services are rendered to
retailers with an appropriate credit history.

The cash and cash equivalents, bank loans and overdraft
balance carry interest at variable rates and therefore

The aged analysis of trade receivables is disclosed in

expose the Company to interest rate risk.

Note 13.

At 31 December 2014, if interest rate on cash and cash

(iv) Liquidity risk

equivalents, bank loans and overdraft balance had been
50 basis points higher/lower with all other variables held

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining

Prepayments amounting to MUR6,144,701 (2013 -

At 31 December 2014, if the Mauritian rupee (“MUR”)

constant, the pre-tax profit for the period would be

sufficient cash and the availability of funding through an

MUR167,506) have not been included in the financial

had weakened/strengthened by 5% against the EURO

MUR991,596 higher/lower (2013 - MUR984,390) mainly as

adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the

assets and liabilities.

(“EUR”) with all other variables held constant, pre-tax

a result of higher/lower interest income earned on bank

ability to close our market positions.

profit for the period would have increased/decreased by

balances.

At 31 December 2014, if the Mauritian rupee (“MUR”) had

MUR116,310 (2013 - MUR123,643), mainly as a result of

weakened/strengthened by 5% against the United States

currency differences on translation of EUR denominated

dollar (“USD”) with all other variables held constant, pre-

trade payables and bank balances.

The table below analyses the Company’s financial

(iii) Credit risk

liabilities into relevant maturing groupings based on
the remaining period at the reporting date to maturity

tax profit for the period would have increased/decreased

Credit risk is managed on Company-wide basis. Credit

date. The amounts disclosed in the table are contractual

by MUR422,447 (2013 - MUR13,134), mainly as a result of

risk arises from cash and cash equivalents as well as credit

undiscounted cash flows.

currency differences on translation of USD denominated
trade payables and bank balances.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (contd)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (contd)

Market Risk (contd)

Market Risk (contd)

(iv) Liquidity risk (contd)

(vi) Capital risk management (contd)
The gearing ratios at 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013 were as follows:

At call

Less than
one year

Between 1 to
5 years

Total

MUR

MUR

MUR

MUR

As at 31 December 2014

Total borrowings (Note 16)

LIABILITIES
Borrowings

-

874,948

-

Trade and other payables

874,948

-

279,320,984

-

279,320,984

-

280,195,932

-

280,195,932

Less cash and cash equivalents (Note 14)
Net cash

31 December
2013
MUR

874,948

2,629,120

(199,194,170)

(199,507,103)

(198,319,222)

(196,877,983)

Total equity

154,826,723

100,284,912

Total capital

(43,492,499)

(96,593,071)

0%

0%

Year ended
31 December
2014
MUR

Period from
1 July 2012 to
31 December
2013
MUR

Gross Ticket Sales

2,725,700,210

3,876,363,745

Draw-based game

2,242,234,920

3,028,316,640

Gearing ratio

The Company is not geared at 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013.

As at 31 December 2013
LIABILITIES
Bank overdraft

31 December
2014
MUR

474,209

-

-

474,209

-

1,397,730

908,299

2,306,029

Borrowings

-

389,872,589

-

389,872,589

474,209

391,270,319

908,299

392,652,827

Trade and other payables

(v) Fair values
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables,

Company may adjust the amount of dividends paid to

cash in hand and at bank, borrowings and trade and

shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new

other payables approximate their fair values.

shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

4. NET INCOME

Scratch cards
Prizes
Consolidated Fund (Note 5)

483,465,290

848,047,105

(1,378,619,403)

(1,997,587,441)

(621,812,500)

(605,063,999)

725,268,307

1,273,712,305

Year ended
31 December
2014
MUR

Period from
1 July 2012 to
31 December
2013
MUR

(621,812,500)

(867,243,140)

5. CONSOLIDATED FUND
The fair values are within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

The Company monitors capital on the basis of the
gearing ratio. The ratio is calculated as net debt divided

(vi) Capital risk management

by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings
(including current and non – current borrowings) less

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are

cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as

to safeguard its ability to continue as a going-concern

‘equity’ as shown in the statement of financial position

in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits

plus net debt.

for other shareholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.
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Consolidated Fund charges for the year/period
Provision for Consolidated Fund charges written back

-

262,179,141

(621,812,500)

(605,063,999)

The Consolidated Fund charges represent 46.16% of the net proceeds from lottery games. The provision for
consolidated fund charges written back for the year ended 31 December 2014 amounted to MURNil (18 months
ended 31 December 2013 – MUR262,179,141).
On 30 October 2012, in the Supreme Court of Mauritius (Mediation Division), an agreement was reached among
Lottotech Ltd, the Gambling Regulatory Authority and The Ministry of Finance and Economic Empowerment. The
agreement stated that Lottotech Ltd shall pay 46.16% of the net proceeds from lottery games to the Consolidated
Fund instead of the original 58.01% in accordance with the terms and conditions of the license issued to it by the
Gambling Regulatory Authority under section 59 of the Act.
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6. OPERATING PROFIT

8. STAFF COSTS

The following items have been charged in arriving at the operating profit:

Year ended
31 December
2014

Period from
1 July 2012 to
31 December
2013

MUR

MUR

Staff costs (Note 8)

76,543,446

142,384,732

Management fee (Note 18 (i))

63,338,715

104,294,001

Rent and utilities

20,494,633

28,825,202

Marketing administrative expenses

6,900,223

24,426,657

Legal and professional fees

7,748,534

44,383,653

Listing expenses

8,000,000

-

Software licence and other information technology cost

9,145,338

11,147,799

Motor vehicle expenses

5,843,388

5,971,857

Municipal fees and licences

3,999,450

1,343,163

Insurance costs

956,188

1,155,118

Reversal of provision for impairment of receivables

(2,500,000)

-

Other expenses

10,389,225

16,528,833

Wages and salaries
Staff welfare benefits
Defined contribution costs
Post-employment benefits

590,000

620,000

Other services

105,000

105,000

MUR

MUR

(125,134)

(808,417)

74,437,485

130,911,675

318,553

6,716,220

3,673,408

3,658,837

(1,886,000)

1,098,000

76,543,446

142,384,732

(a) Charge for the year/period

Deferred income tax (credit)/charge (Note 19)

Year ended 31
December
2014

MUR

17%). The 17% tax rate consists of 15% corporate income tax and 2% Corporate Social Responsibility.

Over/(under) provision of deferred tax assets in previous period (Note 19)

Period from
1 July 2012 to
31 December
2013

MUR

The Company is liable to income tax on its profits, as adjusted for income tax purposes, at the rate of 17% (2013 –

Based on profit for the year/period, as adjusted for tax purposes

7. NET FINANCE INCOME

Period from
1 July 2012 to
31 December
2013

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Fees payable to auditor for:
Audit services

Year ended
31 December
2014

Impact of change in tax rate
Overlap profit
Others
Income tax expense

Year ended
31 December
2014

Period from
1 July 2012 to
31 December
2013

MUR

MUR

37,121,917

51,670,826

5,576,847

(5,356,112)

(1,615,449)

17,453,504

-

(872,969)

(10,667,542)

-

(602,271)

-

29,813,502

62,895,249

Interest expense on:
Bank overdraft

(92,162)

(265,658)

(217,296)

(1,074,075)

Bank balances

7,413,171

11,978,335

Net finance income

7,195,875

10,904,260

Leases
Interest income on:
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9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (contd)

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Leasehold

(b) Current income tax liabilities
Income tax liabilities are MUR 5,638,223 in 2014 (2013 – MUR13,587,271).

tax calculated at the applicable income tax rate of 17% (2013 – 17%) is as follows:
Period from
1 July 2012 to
31 December
2013

MUR

MUR

196,775,263

406,355,314

33,451,795

69,080,403

Non-tax deductible expense

2,054,673

43,927

(Under)/over provision of deferred tax asset in prior year (Note 19)

5,576,847

(5,356,112)

-

(872,969)

(10,667,542)

-

(602,271)

-

29,813,502

62,895,249

Change in tax rate (Note 19)
Overlap profit
Others
Effective income tax charge

At 01 July 2012
Additions

Improvement

Equipment

Fittings

vehicles

Total

MUR

MUR

MUR

MUR

MUR

74,060,544

267,256,368

15,420,815

18,018,397

374,756,124

2,247,768

57,200,315

38,372

6,687,367

66,173,822

-

(8,145,000)

(8,145,000)

76,308,312

324,456,683

15,459,187

16,560,764

432,784,946

Additions

1,042,533

29,750,988

789,238

1,370,000

32,952,759

Disposals

-

(377,955)

-

(970,000)

(1,347,955)

77,350,845

353,829,716

16,248,425

16,960,764

464,389,750

29,739,073

80,042,033

7,634,647

5,279,146

122,694,899

23,356,360

55,096,554

1,545,990

5,590,248

85,589,152

-

-

-

(5,259,966)

(5,259,966)

53,095,433

135,138,587

9,180,637

5,609,428

203,024,085

10,998,908

42,973,720

1,653,303

3,673,998

59,299,929

Disposals

Year ended
31 December
2014

Tax on the profit as adjusted for tax purposes at 17% (2013 – 17%)

Motor

Cost:

A reconciliation between the actual rate of income tax charge of MUR29,813,502 (2013 – MUR62,895,249) and the

Profit before taxation

Furniture and

At 31 December 2013

At 31 December 2014

-

-

Accumulated depreciation:
At 01 July 2012
Charge for the period
Disposals
At 31 December 2013
Charge for the year

-

(18,897)

-

(294,838)

(313,735)

64,094,341

178,093,410

10,833,940

8,988,588

262,010,279

At 31 December 2014

13,256,504

175,736,306

5,414,485

7,972,176

202,379,471

At 31 December 2013

23,212,879

189,318,096

6,278,550

10,951,336

229,760,861

Disposals
At 31 December 2014
Net Carrying amount

At 31 December 2014, it had no accumulated tax losses (2013: MURNil).

10. EARNINGS PER SHARE
Year ended
31 December
2014

Period from
1 July 2012 to
31 December
2013

Profit attributable to shareholders (MUR)

166,961,761

343,460,065

Number of shares entitled to dividends

340,000,000

340,000,000

0.49

1.01

Depreciation expense of MUR59,299,929 (2013 – MUR85,589,152) has been charged in Gaming systems and data
telecommunication costs.
Included in the net book value of property, plant and equipment are 5 motor vehicles (2013 – 5) held under finance
lease amounting to MUR2,986,103 (2013 – MUR3,152,272).

Basic and diluted earnings per share (MUR)

The Company leases various vehicles under non-cancellable finance lease agreements. The lease terms are
between five and six years and ownership of the assets lie with the Company.

The calculation of earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to the shareholders of the company of
MUR166,961,761 (2013: MUR343,460,065) and the number of the shares in issue of 340,000,000 ( 2013:340,000,000
shares adjusted for the 3,400-for-1 share split in March 2014).
There are no dilutive instruments.
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12. INVENTORIES

13. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (contd)
31 December
2014

31 December
2013

MUR

MUR

20,208,744

40,894,962

At 31 December 2014, trade receivables of MUR662,474 (2013 – MUR3,162,474) were impaired for. The ageing
analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:

Cost:
Instant cards
Ticket rolls, bet slips and others

1,416,870

3,447,786

Inventory provision/write-down

(3,617,326)

(30,000,000)

18,008,288

14,342,748

Inventory consumed during the period amounted to MUR24,755,153 (2013 – MUR45,540,440). The inventory write-down arose
as a result of a change in the estimate of usability of instant cards.

31 December
2014
Over 5 days

31 December
2013

MUR

MUR

13,218,296

102,611,916

(662,474)

(3,162,474)

12,555,822

99,449,442

Receivable from shareholders (Note 18(ii))

3,348,046

-

Prepayments and deposits

6,821,436

2,098,263

Trade receivables
Provision for impairment of receivables

Receivables from related parties (Note 18(ii))

9,467,152

10,033,634

32,192,456

111,581,339

MUR

MUR

662,474

3,162,474

662,474

3,162,474

The movement in provision for impairment of trade and other receivables are as follows:
31 December
2014

31 December
2013

MUR

MUR

At 01 January/July

3,162,474

3,162,474

Decrease in provision

(2,500,000)

-

662,474

3,162,474

13. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
31 December
2014

31 December
2013

At 31 December

The provision for impaired receivables has been included in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. Amounts charged to the provision account are generally written off when there are no expectations of
recovering additional cost.
All items within trade and other receivables are denominated in Mauritian Rupees and no collaterals are held
against trade and other receivables at the end of the reporting period.

The fair value of trade and other receivables approximates its carrying amounts as the effect of discounting is not
significant. All trade and other receivables are due within one year of the reporting date.
At 31 December 2014, trade receivables of MUR12,555,822 (2013 – MUR99,449,442) were considered as neither past
due nor impaired. These receivables relate to retailers who have a history of prompt settlement and who were still
within the credit limit allowed to them.
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14. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

16. BORROWINGS (contd)

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of the following for the purpose of statement of cash flows:

(a) Bank borrowings

31 December
2014

31 December
2013

MUR

MUR

Cash at bank and in hand

199,194,170

199,507,103

Bank overdraft (Note 16)

-

(474,209)

199,194,170

199,032,894

The Company has a bank overdraft facility of MUR50,000,000.
The bank overdraft is secured by a first rank floating charge on all assets of the Company. The Company has a bank
guarantee in favour of the State Bank Of Mauritius Ltd for MUR5,000,000 (2013: MUR5,000,000).

(b) Finance leases
15. STATED CAPITAL

The obligations under finance lease relate to motor vehicles with lease term between five and six years. The Company
31 December
2014

31 December
2014

31 December
2013

31 December
2013

Number

MUR

Number

MUR

340,000,000

100,000,000

100,000

100,000,000

Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares of no par value each

has the option to purchase the leased assets for a nominal amount at the conclusion of the lease agreements.
The obligations under finance leases are effectively secured as the rights to the leased assets revert to the lessor
in the event of default. The rates of interest are of a fixed nature. The fair value of obligations under finance leases
approximates their carrying amount.

On 3 March 2014, the shareholders of Lottotech Ltd approved a share split whereby each of the 100,000 ordinary
shares in issue would be divided into 3,400 ordinary shares. The stated capital of Lottotech Ltd post share split is
therefore 340,000,000 ordinary shares. The share split was effective as from 14 March 2014.

31 December
2014

31 December
2013

MUR

MUR

900,933

1,397,730

Amount falling due:
Not later than 1 year

16. BORROWINGS

Later than 1 year but within 5 years
31 December
2014

31 December
2013

MUR

MUR

-

882,315

-

882,315

-

474,209

874,948

1,272,596

874,948

1,746,805

874,948

2,629,120

-

908,299

900,933

2,306,029

Future finance charges on finance leases

(25,985)

(151,118)

Present values of finance lease liabilities

874,948

2,154,911

31 December
2014

31 December
2013

MUR

MUR

874,948

1,272,596

Non-current:
Finance leases
Current:
Bank overdraft (Note 14)
Finance leases
Total borrowings
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The present values of finance lease liabilities should be as follows:
Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year but within 5 years
Present values of finance lease liabilities

-

882,315

874,948

2,154,911
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18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (contd)

17. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
31 December
2014

31 December
2013

MUR

MUR

Trade payables and accruals

12,098,426

23,398,284

Amount due to related parties (Note 18(ii))

36,973,370

52,609,006

117,176,674

156,132,387

Prize liability and reserve fund
Unclaimed prize
Consolidated Fund

7,359,189

26,254,330

105,713,325

131,478,582

279,320,984

389,872,589

18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The directors consider Gamma-Civic Ltd, a company incorporated and domiciled in the Republic of Mauritius, as the parent and
ultimate controlling party.

(i) Transactions carried out with related parties

(ii) Year-end/period balances arising from transactions with related parties (contd)
The receivables from related parties pertain to amounts paid by the Company on behalf of the related parties for the
purchase of lottery equipment, software and professional services.

Fellow subsidiaries

36,973,370

52,609,006

36,973,370

52,609,006

Key management personnel include directors. The compensation paid or payable to key management personnel
for employee services is shown below:
Year ended
31 December
2014

Period from
1 July 2012 to
31 December
2013

63,338,715

104,294,001

Rent and utilities charged by fellow subsidiaries of Gamma-Civic Ltd

14,863,950

22,685,604

174,611

-

19. DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES

7,231,260

-

The gross movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows:

Rent charged by the parent company
Purchase of property, plant and equipment from a fellow subsidiary
of Gamma-Civic Ltd
Purchase of services from fellow subsidiaries of Gamma-Civic Ltd

60,277

1,061,171

85,668,813

128,040,776

(ii) Year-end/period balances arising from transactions with related parties
31 December
2014

31 December
2013

MUR

MUR

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits

236,951

236,951

9,230,201

9,796,683

3,348,046

-

12,815,198

10,033,634

The amounts receivable from related parties are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

Year ended
31 December
2014

Period from
1 July 2012 to
31 December
2013

MUR

MUR

29,912,162

54,415,327

31 December
2014

31 December
2013

MUR

MUR

At 01 January/July

4,677,159

(6,547,264)

Charge to profit or loss (Note 9)

3,961,398

11,224,423

Credit to other comprehensive income
At 31 December

Amounts receivable from related parties (Note 13):
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MUR

(iii) Key management compensation

MUR

Shareholders

MUR

The amounts payable to related parties are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

MUR

Ultimate parent

31 December
2013

Amounts payable to related parties (Note 17):

Management fee charged by a fellow subsidiary of Gamma-Civic Ltd
(Note 6)

Fellow subsidiary

31 December
2014

(45,050)

-

8,593,507

4,677,159

31 December
2014

31 December
2013

MUR

MUR

Movement in deferred tax:
Effect of change in tax rate
Over/(under) provision of deferred tax assets in prior period
Deferred income tax (credit)/charge

-

(872,969)

5,576,847

(5,356,112)

(1,660,499)

17,453,504

3,916,348

11,224,423

77

(5,356,112)

4,677,159
-

-

Interest risk: A decrease in the bond interest rate will
increase the plan liability; however, this may be partially

The Company participates in a multi-employer defined

offset by an increase in the return on the plan’s debt

contribution pension plan to which it contributes 6%, 8%

investments and a decrease in inflationary pressures on

or 10% of its eligible employees’ salaries depending on

salary and pension increases.

-

for the year ended 31 December 2014 (period ended 31

Salary risk: The plan liability is calculated by reference

December 2013 – MUR3,658,837).

to the future projected salaries of plan participants. As
such, an increase in the salary of the plan participants

-

-

(537,621)
5,754,701
At 31 December 2013

(5,356,112)
(Under)provision of deferred tax
liabilities/(assets) in prior year
(Note 9)

(539,921)

17,453,504
116,127
18,699,055
(1,236,218)
Charge/(Credit) to income
statement (Note 9)

(125,460)

20. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

age. These contributions amounted to MUR3,673,408

1,452,592

(48,761)

(63,250)

-

(2,199,888)

(13,662)

(872,969)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2014 (contd)

Effect of change in tax rate
(Note 9)

(6,547,264)

MUR
MUR

(102,465)
(16,499,167)

MUR
MUR

(474,371)
(365,700)

MUR
MUR

10,894,439

MUR

31 December 2013

At 01 July 2012

Total
Unrealised
gains/ losses
Accumulated
tax losses
Provision for
inventory
obsolescence
Provision
for doubtful
debts
Postemployment
benefits
Accelerated
capital
allowances

8,593,507

5,576,847
-

-

-

(614,945)
(112,621)

-

At 31 December 2014

(264,351)

5,576,847

9,585,424

Overprovision of deferred tax
liabilities/(assets) in prior year
(Note 9)

45,050
45,050
-

(1,705,549)
(614,945)
425,000
230,520
(1,746,124)

Credit to other comprehensive
income

Charge/(Credit) to income
statement (Note 9)

Total

4,677,159
(537,621)
(539,921)
5,754,701
At 01 January 2014

MUR
MUR
MUR

31 December 2014
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MUR

MUR

MUR

Unrealised
gains/ losses
Accumulated
tax losses
Provision for
inventory
obsolescence
Provision
for doubtful
debts
Postemployment
benefits
Accelerated
capital
allowances

The movement in deferred income tax liabilities/(assets) is as follows:

19. DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES (contd)

MUR

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2014 (contd)

In addition, the Company has recognised a net defined

above the assumed rate will increase the plan liability

benefit liability of MUR2,520,000 in its Statement of

whereas an increase below the assumed rate will

Financial Position as at 31 December 2014 (31 December

decrease the liability.

2013: MUR4,141,000) in respect of any additional
retirement gratuities that are expected to be paid out

The Company had a residual obligation imposed by

of the Company’s cashflow to its employees under the

ERA 2008 on top of its defined contribution (DC) plan.

Employment Rights Act (ERA) 2008.

It is therefore particularly exposed to investment underperformance of the DC plan.

The Company is subject to an unfunded defined benefit
plan for the employees. The plan exposes the Company

There has been no plan amendment, curtailment or

to normal risks described below:

settlement during the year.

Longevity risk: (where the plan is funded and an
annuity is paid over life expectancy): The plan liability
is calculated by reference to the best estimate of the
mortality of plan participants both during and after their
employment. An increase in the life expectancy of the
plan participants will increase the plan liability.
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20. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (contd)

20. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (contd)

The amount recognised in the statement of financial position is as follows:

Future cashflows

The funding policy is to pay benefits out of the reporting entity’s cashflow as and when due.
31 December
2014

31 December
2013

MUR

MUR

861,000

775,000

(2,949,000)

-

202,000

323,000

(1,886,000)

1,098,000

31 December
2014

31 December
2013

MUR

MUR

Nil

Nil

23 years

15 years

31 December
2014

31 December
2013

MUR

MUR

4,141,000

2,438,000

Current service cost

861,000

775,000

Interest cost

202,000

323,000

Amounts recognised in profit or loss
Current service cost
Past service cost
Interest cost

Expected employer contribution for the next year
Weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation

The past service cost consists mainly of the release of provisions in respect of certain directors.
Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income
Liability experience loss/(gain)

265,000

(1,174,000)

-

2,139,000

265,000

965,000

31 December
2014

31 December
2013

MUR

MUR

At start of year/period

4,141,000

2,438,000

Amounts recognised in profit or loss

(1,886,000)

1,098,000

Liability loss due to change in financial assumptions

Reconciliation of the present value of defined benefit obligation
Present value of obligation at start of year/period

Past service cost

Movements in liability recognised in statement of financial position

Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income

265,000

965,000

-

(360,000)

2,520,000

4,141,000

Discount rate

7.5%

7.5%

Rate of salary increases

6.5%

6.5%

Rate of pension increases

2.5%

2.5%

60

60

Contributions and direct benefits paid
At end of year/period

Benefits paid
Liability loss
Present value of obligation at end of year/period

(2,949,000)

-

-

(360,000)

265,000

965,000

2,520,000

4,141,000

21. DIVIDENDS
The Company declared dividends of MUR112,200,000 and paid MUR152,200,000 in the year ended 31 December
2014 (2013 – MUR250,000,000 of which MUR210,000,000 was paid).

Principal actuarial assumptions at end of year/period

Average retirement age (ARA)

The Company leases its offices under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The lease terms are for 5 years.
The future aggregate minimum lease payments under the non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Sensitivity Analysis on Defined Benefit Obligation at End of Period

- Increase due to 1% decrease in discount rate

2, 255

512

- Decrease due to 1% increase in discount rate

1, 384

709

The above sensitivity analysis has been carried out by recalculating the present value of obligation at end of period
after increasing or decreasing the discount rate while leaving all other assumptions unchanged. Any similar variation
in the other assumptions would have shown smaller variations in the defined benefit obligation.
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22. COMMITMENTS

31 December
2014
Not later than one year
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years
Total

31 December
2013

MUR

MUR

12,487,712

12,291,125

-

4,246,357

12,487,712

16,537,482
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23. SEGMENT INFORMATION

24. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING YEAR END

IFRS 8 requires operating segments to be identified

The Company changed its accounting year end from 30

on the basis of internal reports about components

June to 31 December in 2013. The current year figures

of the Company that are regularly reviewed by the

are therefore not comparable to those of the 18 month

chief operating decision maker in order to allocate

period ended 31 December 2013.

resources to the segments and to assess their
performance.

25. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Company has only one reportable operating

We draw attention to the fact that following the

segment based on its business activities, which is the

General Elections held in December 2014, there has

Gaming segment. As such, the required disclosures

been a change in government in Mauritius. The new

for the year ended 31 December 2014 and the 18

government has announced that it is undertaking a

month period ended 31 December 2013 are already

general review of the gaming industry, including the

included in the financial statements.

sector in which the Company operates. Whilst this
may affect the Company, there has been no official

The accounting policies of the operating segment are

announcement in respect of the changes, if any, which

the same as those described in Note 2.19.

government proposes to bring to the industry.
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